IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY Digital Repository

Graduate Theses and Dissertations

Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations

2012

Investigating the dual roles of STRA6 in cell signaling and vitamin A trafficking

Christina Elaine Schulte Iowa State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/etd Part of the <u>Cell Biology Commons</u>, <u>Human and Clinical Nutrition Commons</u>, and the <u>Toxicology Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Schulte, Christina Elaine, "Investigating the dual roles of STRA6 in cell signaling and vitamin A trafficking" (2012). *Graduate Theses and Dissertations*. 12930. https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/etd/12930

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations at Iowa State University Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Iowa State University Digital Repository. For more information, please contact digirep@iastate.edu.



Investigating the dual roles of STRA6 in cell signaling and vitamin A

trafficking

by

Christina Elaine Schulte

A thesis submitted to the graduate faculty

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Major: Toxicology

Program of Study Committee:

Matthew Rowling, Major Professor

Kevin Schalinske

James Hollis

Iowa State University

Ames, Iowa

2012

Copyright © Christina Elaine Schulte, 2012. All rights reserved.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	iv
LIST OF TABLES	V
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	vi
ABSTRACT	viii
CHAPTER 1. LITERATURE REVIEW	1
Introduction	1
Diverse Physiological Function of Vitamin A	2
Vitamin A Digestion and Absorption	5
Transport, Metabolism, and Storage	7
Plasma Retinol Binding Protein	8
STRA6, the RBP Receptor that Mediates Vitamin A Uptake	9
Evidence for the existence of an RBP receptor	9
Identification	10
STRA6 topology	12
STRA6 mutations associated with human diseases	13
Retinoid Signaling in the Target Cell	14
Retinoid signaling	17
JAK/STAT Activation	18
Role of Vitamin A in Carcinogenesis	20
Abnormal retinoid metabolism in cancer	22
CHAPTER 2. METHODS	25
Cell Culture	25



Cell Culture Treatments	25
Crystal Violet Assay	26
mRNA Extraction and Reverse Transcriptase-Quantitative PCR	26
Western Blots	28
Fluorescent Microscopy Retinol Uptake Assay	29
Conjugating RBP with Alexa Fluor 488	29
RBP uptake assay	29
Radioactivity Retinol Uptake Assay	30
Conjugating RBP with ³ H-retinol	30
Retinol Uptake assay	30
Statistics	30
CHAPTER 3. RESULTS	32
Retinol uptake over time	32
Effects of Retinoic Acid	33
STRA6 protein expression	33
Expression of cell cycle progression proteins	33
Change in gene expression	33
Cell viability	34
Retinol uptake	35
Effects of Holo-RBP	35
STRA6 expression	36
Effects of holo-RBP on protein expression	36
Change in gene expression	37
Effects on cell viability	37
CHAPTER 4. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	49
BIBLIOGRAPHY	53



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Chemical Structures of Vitamin A	3
Figure 2. Vitamin A Absorption, Metabolism, and Tissue Delivery.	6
Figure 3. Vitamin A Transport and Activation.	16
Figure 4. Retinol Uptake Over Time.	38
Figure 5. Effects of Retinoic Acid on STRA6 Expression	39
Figure 6. Effects of Retinoic Acid on Cell Cycle Progression Protein Expression	40
Figure 7. Effects of Retinoic Acid on Gene Expression Levels	42
Figure 8. Effects of Retinoic Acid on Cell Viability	43
Figure 9. Effects of Retinoic Acid on Retinol Uptake	44
Figure 10. Effects of Holo-RBP on Protein Expression	45
Figure 11. Effects of Holo-RBP on Gene Expression Levels	47
Figure 12. Effects of Holo-RBP on Cell Viability	48



LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. RT-qPCR Primer Sequences

المنسارات

27

www.manaraa.com

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- **RBP** Retinol Binding Protein
- STRA6 Stimulated by Retinoic Acid 6
- Jak2 Janus Kinase 2
- Stat5 Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 5
- p21 Cyclin-Dependent Kinase Inhibitor 1
- ATRA All-trans Retinoic Acid
- 9-cis RA 9-cis Retinoic Acid
- CRBP I Cellular Retinol Binding Protein I
- CRBP II Cellular Retinol Binding Protein II
- LRAT Lecithin:Retinol Acyltransferase
- ARAT Acyl CoA:Retinol Acyltransferase
- RPE Retinal Pigment Epithelium
- VLDL Very Low-Density Lipoprotein
- ATP Adenosine Triphosphate
- TTR Transthyretin
- RAR Retinoic Acid Receptor
- RXR Retinoid X Receptor
- RARE Retinoic Acid Response Element
- CDK Cyclin Dependent Kinase
- p27 Cyclin-Dependent Kinase Inhibitor 1B
- Cav-1 Caveolin 1
- ER Estrogen Receptor
- MAPK Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase



- cAMP Cyclic Adenosine Monophosphate
- JNK c-Jun N-Terminal Kinases
- p38 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase
- c-fos Cellular Oncogene fos
- REH Retinyl Ester Hydrolase
- RA Retinoic Acid
- RDH Retinol Dehydrogenase
- ALDH Aldehyde Dehydrogenase
- AC6 Adenylyl Cyclase 6
- CYP Cytochrome P450 Superfamily
- CD1 Cyclin D1
- CD3 Cyclin D3
- 18S 18S Ribosomal RNA
- SH2 Src Homology 2 Domain



ABSTRACT

The long-term goal of the present study is to understand how cancer incidence and progression can be reduced through the optimization of vitamin A trafficking and signaling in tissues prone to tumor development. However, little is known about vitamin A uptake, transport, or signaling in epithelial cells prone to tumorigenesis. Retinol, the major circulating retinoid, is delivered to peripheral tissues in complex with retinol binding protein (RBP). Recently, a retinoic acid responsive protein with no previous known biological function, STRA6, has been identified as an essential transmembrane receptor that mediates retinol uptake in retinal epithelial cells. More recently, STRA6 was also found to be a cell surface signaling receptor activated by the binding of the RBP-retinol complex (holo-RBP) in HepG2 hepatocarcinoma cells. STRA6 contains an SH2 domain-binding motif in the receptor's cytosolic domain that appears to be activated through tyrosine phosphorylation after binding with the holo-RBP complex. This activation leads to the recruitment and activation of Janus kinase 2 (Jak2) and Signal transducer and activator of transcription 5 (Stat5). Once activated, Stat5 is translocated to the nucleus where it mediates the expression of specific target genes related to differentiation, apoptosis, and anti-proliferation. In the current studies, I have tested my central hypothesis that retinoic acid and/or binding of the holo-RBP complex leads to the anti-proliferative effects observed with retinol treatment in epithelial tissues. The results presented in this thesis show that treatment of cancer cells with all-trans-retinoic acid (ATRA) increased levels of STRA6 and p21, a cell cycle inhibitor, as well as down regulated the expression of cell cycle progression proteins. Moreover, our



results indicate a role for holo-RBP in apoptosis. Collectively these studies offer new insight into the role vitamin A trafficking plays in the anti-proliferative actions of vitamin A.



CHAPTER 1. LITERATURE REVIEW

Introduction

Vitamin A is an essential nutrient across species, and plays an important role in vision and cell differentiation (1). Dietary sources of preformed vitamin A include retinol esters, present in foods of animal origin and hydrolyzed in the intestine to form retinol, and provitamin A carotenoids, which are present in plants. In addition to naturally occurring dietary sources, synthetic carotenoids and vitamin A are produced for pharmaceutical and cosmetic uses. Humans require only small amounts of vitamin A in their diets, 400 to 1300 μ g daily depending on sex and age (2,3). Vitamin A deficiency is a major issue in many developing countries and can result in blindness, severe infection, and even death (4). The molecular mechanism of vitamin A's physiological function was first discovered for vision by Wald and colleagues in 1933 (5). However, vitamin A's diverse role has been recognized in almost every vertebrate organ system and includes roles in embryonic growth and development, immune response, reproduction, maintenance of epithelial surfaces, and proper functioning of the adult brain (reviewed in 6–10). As a result of its role in cell growth and differentiation, vitamin A plays both positive and negative roles in several pathological conditions, such as visual disorders, cancer, infectious diseases, diabetes, teratogenicity, and skin diseases (reviewed in 10–17). Most of these pathological or physiological functions can be attributed to vitamin A's most biologically active form, retinoic acid, and its effects on nuclear hormone receptors (18).



Following absorption, vitamin A, in the form of retinol, is transported from storage in the liver to target cells via the blood bound to retinol binding protein (RBP). RBP binds with high affinity to retinol and serves as the main transport of vitamin A in the blood. This means of transport allows vertebrates to adapt to fluctuation in vitamin A dietary intake levels and ensures that the blood plasma retinol concentration is close to 2 μ M (19). Recently, the cell surface RBP receptor has been identified as STRA6 (stimulated by retinoic acid gene 6 homolog), a widely expressed multitransmembrane domain protein. STRA6 binds to RBP with high affinity, mediates cellular uptake of vitamin A, and is localized to cellular locations expected of the RBP receptor in native tissues (20).

In this literature review, current knowledge of vitamin A and RBP relative to my research is discussed. Additionally, STRA6's identification, function, and unique features as a membrane receptor and transporter are described in more detail, as well as its link to cancer prevention.

Diverse Physiological Function of Vitamin A

The term vitamin A is used to describe the group of compounds that possess the biological activity of all-*trans* retinol (21,22). The term "vitamin A" refers to molecules that are structurally similar and possess vitamin A activity. These molecules include alcohol, aldehyde, acid, and ester forms, as well as synthetic analogues. Structurally, retinoids contain a β -ionone ring and a polyunsaturated side chain, with either an alcohol, an aldehyde, a carboxylic acid, or an ester group (**Figure 1**). Some forms have direct biological activities; where as other forms serve as important reaction intermediates or as the storage form of



vitamin A. Retinol and its derivatives and analogs, either natural or synthetic, with or without biological activity are termed retinoids.

The alcohol form of vitamin A, retinol, serves as a substrate for RBP, which determines the ability of vitamin A to be transported to target tissues. Retinol is less toxic than retinal and retinoic acid and may be the reason it evolved to be the major transport form of vitamin A (23). After delivery to target tissues, retinol can be oxidized to yield retinal, the form essential for vision, or retinoic acid, the most biologically active form of vitamin A.



Figure 1. Chemical Structures of Vitamin A

The aldehyde form of vitamin A, 11-cis retinal, is used in photoreceptor cells in the retina as a chromophore to support vision. However, free retinal has been shown to be highly toxic (24). Additionally, the aldehyde form of vitamin A serves as an intermediate in the synthesis of retinoic acid.



Most of vitamin A's numerous activities can be attributed to the action of all-*trans* retinoic acid (ATRA) and its 9-*cis* isomer (9-*cis* RA). These acids exert their actions by binding to nuclear retinoic acid receptors and regulating gene transcription of a large number of genes. It is also the most biologically active form of vitamin A. It can either stimulate or suppress mitogenesis depending on the cellular context (25). Additionally, retinoic acid can mediate its effects by retinolylating proteins (26,27). Retinoic acid is not stored and is metabolized quickly. Furthermore, it cannot support vision because it cannot be reduced to retinaldehyde or retinol.

Free retinol is chemically unstable and does not occur to a significant extent in foods or tissues; rather, it is present as a variety of esters, mainly retinyl palmitate. The retinyl ester form of vitamin A is also the main form of storage in the cells (22,28). It is also an alternative form for vitamin A delivery; however, this delivery system has been associated with toxicity (4,29). Tissues can take up retinyl esters from chylomicrons, however, most is left in the chylomicron remnants to be taken up by the liver. Hypervitaminosis A, a toxic state associated with increased plasma concentrations of vitamin A, particularly retinyl esters, occurs when excessive amounts of vitamin A are presented to cell membranes in association with plasma lipoproteins (29,30). In fact, elevated amounts of retinyl esters have been used as markers for chronic hypervitaminosis A in humans (31–33). Although the mechanism remains inconclusive, a proposed mechanism of toxicity is the leaking of esters into the bloodstream from saturated hepatic stellate cells and the incorporation into LDL particles (31,34,35).

Provitamin A carotenoids represent a group of compounds that are precursors of vitamin A and are synthesized by a wide variety of fruits and vegetables, including carrots,



apricots, mangoes, sweet potatoes, spinach, kale, and tomatoes. Structurally, carotinoids have an expanded carbon chain containing conjugated double bonds that usually, but not always, contain an unsubstituted β -ionone ring at one or both ends of the chain. Although there are over 600 carotenoids produced by plants, fewer than 10% are thought to exhibit vitamin A activity. These active carotenoids are called provitamin A, and their metabolism yields biologically active retinoids (retinol, retinal, retinoic acid) (36). β -carotene, α -carotene, and β - cryptoxanthin are three dietary provitamin A carotenoids that are found most often in the all-*trans* form (21).

Vitamin A Digestion and Absorption

Prior to absorption, vitamin A requires digestion, given that it is bound to other food components. In fact, retinol is typically bound to fatty acid esters, most commonly retinyl palmitate, or complexed with protein from which it must be released (37). Hydrolysis of carotenoids and retinyl esters from proteins begins in the stomach and is initiated by pepsin (**Figure 2**). Due to their innate fat solubility, free retinyl esters and carotenoids join together to form fat globules in the stomach. These fat globules are emulsified later in the duodenum into smaller droplets by bile. Micelles containing bile salts, phospholipids, triglycerides, and retinyl and carotenoid esters form within the lumen of the small intestine. Retinyl and carotenoid esters are further hydrolyzed by various hydrolases and esterases and pancreatic lipases and remain within the micellar solution. The micellar solution is absorbed across the microvilli brush border membrane of the duodenum and jejunum and into the enterocyte (38).





Figure 2. Vitamin A Absorption, Metabolism, and Tissue Delivery.

The principle dietary sources of vitamin A include retinol, retinyl esters, and provitamin A carotenoids, such as β -carotene. Within the enterocytes, retinyl esters are hydrolyzed to retinol through retinyl ester hydrolases (REHs), whereas the provitamin A carotenoids are cleaved to retinal and metabolized to retinol. Retinol is then bound to cellular retinol binding protein II (CRBP-II) and esterified to retinyl esters through the action of lecithin:retinol acyltransferase (LRAT). The retinyl esters are secreted into the lymphatic system through the incorporation with other lipids into chylomicrons. The chylomicrons are taken up by hepatocytes, where the retinyl esters are hydrolyzed by REH to retinol, where it undergoes one of several fates. Retinol can combine with cellular retinol binding protein I (CRBP-I) for hepatocellular use, conjugate with retinol binding protein (apo-RBP) to form holo-RBP for delivery to other tissues, or it can be transferred to the stellate cells to be stored as retinyl esters until required.



Approximately 70-90% of dietary preformed vitamin A and 5-60% of carotenoids, depending on the cooking process, are absorbed (39). Once within the intestinal mucosal cell, carotenoids undergo metabolism and can be hydrolyzed into retinaldehyde, or retinal, by 15,15'-carotene dioxygenase. Retinal can be further converted to retinol by retinal reductase or oxidized to form retinoic acid. Retinol is bound to cellular retinol binding protein II (CRBP-II) and then esterified to form mainly retinyl palmitate, although small amounts of retinyl stearate and retinyl oleate are also formed, by lecithin:retinol acyl transferase (LRAT) using phophatidylcholine as the fatty acid donor. A minor secondary pathway involves acyl CoA:retinol acyltranferase (ARAT), esterifying the free retinol (37). Retinyl esters are then incorporated into a chylomicron, which can travel to other tissues via the lymphatic circulation and then the bloodstream, together with dietary lipids and carotenoids. In contrast, retinoic acid is transported directly from the small intestine to the liver via portal circulation, and then transported in the plasma bound tightly to albumin.

Transport, Metabolism, and Storage

Chylomicrons deliver retinyl esters and carotenoids to many extrahepatic tissues, including bone marrow, blood cells, spleen, adipose tissue, muscle, lungs, and kidneys (40). However, most remain in the chylomicron remnants and are taken up into the liver through endocytosis. Upon reaching the liver, vitamin A is taken up by parenchymal cells. Carotenoids are cleaved into retinol, incorporated into very low density lipoproteins (VLDLs) for transport to other tissues, or stored in the liver as retinyl esters. Retinyl esters are cleaved by hydrolases into retinol and bound to CRBP-I. CRBP-I is thought to function



both to help control concentrations of free retinol within the cell and prevent its oxidation, as well as to direct the vitamin to specific enzymes of metabolism (41,42).

Finally, retinol is esterified by LRAT or ARAT and stored with lipid droplets in stellate cells of the liver, oxidized to retinal by dehydrogenase, or phosphorylated to retinyl phosphate by ATP for glycoprotein functions (43). Hydrolysis can release the retinol from storage as needed for use. Hence, plasma vitamin A concentrations remain relatively constant over a large range of dietary intakes (39), and only after the hepatic storage can no longer accept more retinol does hypervitaminosis A occur (44).

Plasma Retinol Binding Protein

Retinol is released from the liver bound to RBP and transthyretin (TTR). Both proteins are synthesized in the liver by the hepatocytes. Because free retinol is insoluble in aqueous media, chemically unstable, and relatively toxic to cells, RBP serves to solubilize retinol, protect it against oxidation, and deliver it to target tissues (4,45). RBP binds 1 mol of retinol per mol of protein, which also interacts with 1 mol of TTR. This complex containing TTR, RBP, and retinol is referred to as holo-RBP-TTR complex (21). TTR is critical because it increases the molecular weight of the holo-RBP complex and reduces its loss through glomerular filtration in the kidneys.

In the liver, apo-RBP-TTR complex, where no retinol is present, is formed in the rough endoplasmic reticulum (ER), then migrates through the smooth ER and binds to retinol. The holo-RBP complex is then free to migrate to the Golgi for secretion (46). RBP is the principle means of transporting vitamin A in the blood and allows for plasma concentrations to be 1000-fold higher than would occur for free retinol (4). Though RBP is



mainly produced in the liver, it can be produced in many other tissues. For example, RBP is highly expressed in adipose tissue. However, extrahepatic RBP cannot mobilize vitamin A stores from the liver (47). The role of RBP produced by tissues other than the liver is not completely understood. However recently, RBP produced by adipose tissue has been found to be an adipokine for insulin resistance (16). Additionally, adipose tissues contain 15% to 20% of total body vitamin A, mostly taken up from chylomicrons by lipoprotein lipases in the form of retinyl esters (48). The synthesis of RBP by adipose tissue may provide a mechanism for return of excess retinol.

With respect to vitamin A homeostasis, RBP is critical. RBP knockout mice could not mobilize the hepatic vitamin A stores and were extremely sensitive to vitamin A deficiency. These mice had dramatically lower serum vitamin A levels, even with nutritionally complete diets. Additionally, these mice had classic symptoms of vitamin A deficiency, including lower levels of circulating immunoglobulin, abnormal heart development, and impaired vision.

STRA6, the RBP Receptor that Mediates Vitamin A Uptake

Evidence for the existence of an RBP receptor

Evidence for the existence of a specific cell-surface receptor for RBP first emerged in the 1970's and was first revealed in retinal pigment epithelium cells and mucosal epithelial cells (49–53). In fact, since the 1970's there has been strong evidence for the existence of a cell-surface receptor for RBP in not only retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) cells but also in other tissues including placenta, choroid plexus, and macrophages (54–57). The observed tissue distribution of the RBP receptor parallels with what we know about vitamin A function



and metabolism. In a systematic comparison of RBP binding in different tissues, the highest RBP-binding activities were found in membranes from the RPE, placenta, bone marrow, choroid plexus, and undifferentiated keratinocytes, which has been correlated with vitamin A function in vision, fetal development, immune response, brain development, and cell differentiation, respectively (58).

There are several key indicators that suggested an RBP receptor is required for retinol uptake. Evidence for a requirement of an RBP receptor includes the inhibition of retinol uptake from RBP by an excess of unlabeled RBP, as well as by antibodies to RBP, and by a cysteine modification compound (49,53,54,59). Also, ¹²⁵I-RBP was shown to have saturable binding to the cell membrane (60) and upon injection of ¹²⁵I-RBP into rats, specific labeling was observed on the basolateral membrane of the RPE and in the choroid plexus (49,56). Finally, specific mutations in RBP or a monoclonal antibody against a specific region of RBP can terminate its interactions with the receptor and abolish uptake of vitamin A into the cells (61–63).

Interestingly, the cell-surface RBP receptor was shown to mediate uptake of vitamin A from holo-RBP before its identification (50,52,60). In fact, vitamin A uptake from the holo-RBP complex has been found in several tissues including mucosal epithelial cells, human placenta, Sertoli cells of the testis, human skin, and macrophages before the RBP receptor was elucidated (53,55,59,64,65).

Identification

Even with the growing body of evidence of a cell-surface RBP receptor that mediates vitamin A uptake and/or downstream signaling, it has been challenging to purify and identify



the RBP receptor using traditional biochemical approaches due to the fragility of the receptor protein and the transient nature of the binding of RBP to its receptor. In 2007, Kawaguchi and his colleagues designed a strategy to stabilize the RBP-receptor interaction, permitting high affinity purification of the RBP-receptor complex (20). Using this strategy, the RBP receptor was identified as STRA6, a multitransmembrane protein of previously unknown function. STRA6 binds to RBP with high affinity and mediates uptake of vitamin A into the cell from the holo-RBP complex. Moreover, STRA6's mechanism of retinol uptake does not depend on endocytosis and does not require active transport or an electrochemical gradient of the free substrate.

Despite the fact that STRA6's function in vitamin A uptake was recently elucidated, it was first characterized in 1995 as a retinoic acid induced gene in P19 embryonic carcinoma cells (66) and stands for "stimulated by retinoic acid 6." It can be induced by Wnt-1 and retinoic acid synergistically (67). STRA6 is also widely expressed during embryonic development and in adult organ systems. In adult tissues, STRA6 is expressed in bloodorgan barriers including the RPE (blood-retina barrier), the placenta (maternal-fetal barrier), the choroid plexus (blood-brain barrier), and the Sertoli cells of the testis (blood-testis barrier) (56), as well as non-blood-organ barriers such as the eye, both male and female reproductive system, the nervous system, the lymphoid organs, the skin, the lungs, the kidneys, and the heart, which correspond to its recently discovered function as the RBP receptor (14,68–73).



STRA6 topology

STRA6's function was especially hard to indentify because it has no homology similar to any known transport proteins. STRA6 is a 74-kDa protein that has a transmembrane topology determined experimentally by Kawaguchi and his colleagues (74). The topology model for STRA6 indicates that it has 19 distinct domains comprising of five extracellular domains, nine transmembrane domains, and five intracellular domains. Although STRA6 represents a new membrane transport system, many membrane transporters have 8-12 transmembrane domains and its number of these domains lies within this range (75). It is thought that the large number of transmembrane domains allows for STRA6 to form a pore through which retinol can pass into the cytoplasm of the target cell (75), though this hypothesis has yet to be proven.

RBP-binding domain

Since STRA6 is not homologous to any known membrane receptor, transporter, or channel protein, the identification of the RBP-binding domain on STRA6, was accomplished by the creation and analysis of over 900 random mutants of STRA6 that elucidated its structure and function (76). The mutation of three key residues in the RBP binding domain was sufficient to eliminate RBP binding and vitamin A uptake activities of STRA6. These three residues are thought to be located in the contact site for STRA6-RBP interaction without affecting its cell-surface expression. In fact, one of the key residues for RBP binding to embryonic lethality or severe birth defects in many organ systems.



STRA6 mutations associated with human diseases

Mutations in STRA6 have been associated with severe pathological phenotypes in human genetic studies including mental retardation, congenital heart defects, lung hypoplasia, duodenal stenosis, pancreatic malformations, and inhibition of intrauterine growth (77,78). One of the most prominent features of the loss of STRA6 function in humans is anophthalmia, the absence of one or both eyes. The loss of retinoid uptake in the eye due to the knockdown of STRA6 has been shown in zebrafish models, as well as developmental defects due to the loss of STRA6 (79).

In mammals, STRA6 is expressed in a variety of embryonic and adult tissues. Mutations in STRA6 in humans cause the fatal Matthew-Wood syndrome, which is characterized by severe microphthalmia, pulmonary agenesis, bilateral diaphragmatic eventration, duodenal stenosis, and pancreatic malformations (78,80–82). An analysis of STRA6 in two human fetuses from consanguineous families with Matthew-Wood syndrome showed a homozygous insertion/deletion in exon 2 or a homozygous insertion in exon 7 predicting a premature stop codon in STRA6 transcripts (77). In a separate study, STRA6 molecular analysis was preformed in three fetuses and one child diagnosed with Matthew-Wood syndrome and in three siblings affected with combinations of clinical anophthalmia, tetralogy of Fallot, and mental retardation. Among these individuals, six novel muations in STRA6 were identified, bringing the current total of known mutations to seventeen (81). Loss-of function analysis in zebrafish embryos revealed that STRA6 deficiency caused vitamin A deprivation of the developing eyes and provokes nonspecific vitamin A excess in several embryonic tissues, thereby impairing normal retinoic acid receptor signaling and gene



regulation (79). However, reducing RBP levels largely alleviated these fatal consequences due to nonspecific retinoic acid excess in the absence of STRA6.

Retinoid Signaling in the Target Cell

Upon binding of the holo-RBP complex to STRA6 of target cell, STRA6 effectively mediates vitamin A uptake from the holo-RBP-TTR complex by catalyzing retinol release from holo-RBP (Figure 3) (20). Lecithin: retinol acyltransferase (LRAT) stimulates retinol uptake activity from STRA6 (83). Within the cytoplasm of the target cell, LRAT converts retinol to retinyl esters, the storage form of vitamin A. Retinol can also be stored by binding to cellular retinol binding proteins (CRBPs), such as CRBP-I and CRBP-II. In fact, CRBP-I also enhances retinol uptake from holo-RBP by STRA6, where as CRBP-II was much less effective at similar expression levels (83). The dependence of STRA6 on LRAT or CRBP-I for retinol uptake suggests that STRA6 is tightly coupled to these proteins. It has been hypothesized that retinol released by STRA6 inhibits further retinol release, but LRAT or CRBP-I relieves the inhibition by converting retinol to retinyl esters (83). STRA6 was also found to load retinol back onto RBP. LRAT and CRBP-I effectively prevents STRA6 catalyzed retinol loading and can enhance STRA6's retinol uptake (83). This mechanism offers control of vitamin A uptake and prevents toxicity due to excessive accumulation of free vitamin A and the potent activities of retinoids in regulating gene transcription during development and in adult tissues. Finally, apo-RBP dissociates from STRA6 and will be lost to kidney filtration.

Vitamin A helps maintain both the normal structure and functions of the epithelial cells (43). Retinoic Acid is needed for cellular differentiation by epithelial cells, found as part



of the skin and the respiratory, gastrointestinal, and urogential tracts. Retinoic acid is also thought to act as a signal to switch on the genes for keratin proteins of keratinocytes into mature epidermal cells. For example, retinoic acid directs the differentiation of keratinocytes, immature skin cells, into mature epidermal cells (84,85). However, vitamin A deficiency causes keratin-producing cells to lose retinoic acid's transcriptional regulation and to be replaced with mucus-secreting cells in many body tissues.

The mechanism by which retinoic acid is thought to affect cell differentiation, at least in part, is due to its effects on gene expression. A series of events occur where the retinol is converted into retinoic acid and moved into the nucleus, where it can interact with the DNA. Once in the target cell, retinol is converted to ATRA and/or 9-cRA by alcohol dehydrogenase to retinaldehyde, then it is further converted to retinoic acid by retinaldehyde dehyrogenase. Retinoic acid is then transported into the nucleus bound to CRBP-I and presented to retinoic acid receptors. The two classes of receptors convey the activity of retinoic acid. The retinoic acid receptors (RARs) bind ATRA and 9-cRA and the retinoid X receptors (RXRs) binds solely 9-cRA. Liganded RXR homodimerizes or heterodimerizes with RAR and participates in tissue specific gene regulation by binding to specific DNA nucleotide sequences, referred to as retinoic acid response elements (RARE) in the promoter region of specific genes permitting the direct regulation of retinoid-dependent transcriptional responses (22,86,87). Both RAR and RXR have multiple isotypes that have been identified including α , β , and γ . RAR α , RAR β , and RAR γ are activated by both ATRA and 9-cRA, whereas RXR α , RXR β , and RXRy have only been shown to be activated by 9-cRA (8,88–93). Furthermore, each isotype has been found to generate several isoforms with distinct regulatory and functional



properties, due to alternative splicing. RAR α and RAR γ have two major isoforms (α 1, α 2, γ 1 and γ 2), whereas RAR β has at least four forms (β 1-4) (94).



Figure 3. Vitamin A Transport and Activation.

When vitamin A stores are mobilized from the liver for use in peripheral tissues, retinyl esters are converted to retinol and bound by retinol binding protein (RBP). The holo-RBP complex is bound by transthyretin (TTR), then secreted into the plasma and delivered to target tissues. Uptake of retinol from RBP into the cell is mediated by STRA6. Once in the target cell, the retinol is activated to ATRA and/or 9-cRA, which is translocated into the nucleus, and then binds to retinoic acid receptors (RARs and RXRs). Liganded RAR dimerizes with RXR and participates in tissue specific gene regulation, specifically transcription of anti-proliferative proteins. Alternatively, the binding of holo-RBP to the extracellular moiety of STRA6 triggers tyrosine phosphorylation of the SH2 binding domain. Phosphorylated STRA6 recruits and activates Jak2, which, in turn, phosphorylates Stat5. Upon activation, Stat5 translocates to the nucleus to regulate the expression of target genes.



www.manaraa.com

Retinoid signaling

Progression through the cell cycle is driven by complexes between cyclin dependent kinases (CDKs) and cyclins. In cancer cells, mutations leading to irregular cell proliferation, DNA instability, and chromosome instability accumulate through the uncontrolled regulation of CDK activities(95). Therefore, cyclins, CDKs, and factors that regulate CDKs are potential targets for inhibition of cancer cell proliferation.

Retinoids, in particular retinoic acid, have been shown to inhibit cell cycle progression in a variety of human cancer cells, including promyelocytic leukemia, lung squamous carcinoma, embryonal carcinoma, bronchial epithelial, and breast cancer cell lines, by directly or indirectly modulating cyclins, CDKs, and cell-cycle inhibitors (96–100). Retinoic acid, specifically, causes a block in the G1 phase of the cell cycle, with an increase in the proportion of cells in the G0/G1 phase and a decrease in the proportion of cells in the S phase (101).

Although there is some data suggesting that RAR α and RAR γ play a role in growth inhibition, RAR β has emerged as a critical mediator of the growth and proliferationsuppressing actions of retinoic acid (102). In fact, RAR β_2 expression is retinoic acid inducible and is lost early in the process of tumorigenesis in F9 mouse teratocarcinoma cells, as well as human hepatoma cells and human breast cancer cells (103–106). RAR β_2 , which is often lost or epigenetically silenced in human cancers, stimulates the induction of cell cycle inhibitors including p21 and p27 (105,107). More importantly, restoration of RAR β_2 gene expression reactivates the retinoic acid dependent growth control (108,109). In fact, ectopic



restoration of RAR β_2 expression in MCF7 and MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cell lines has been shown to restore the ability of retinoic acid to induce both growth arrest and apoptosis (110). During carcinogenesis, the loss of RAR β_2 expression leads to retinoid resistance and loss of retinoic acid induced growth arrest, suggesting that retinoic acid acts through RAR β_2 to mediate its effects on cellular proliferation and differentiation (103).

JAK/STAT Activation

Recently, STRA6 was shown to not only regulate uptake and reloading of retinol from RBP, but also act as a cell surface signaling receptor activated by holo-RBP binding (111). STRA6 contains an SH2 domain-binding motif in the receptor's cytosolic domain that can be activated through tyrosine phosphorylation after binding with the RBP-retinol complex (Figure 3). This activation leads to the recruitment and activation of Janus kinase 2 (Jak2) and Signal transducer and activator of transcription 5 (Stat5). Once activated, Stat5 is translocated to the nucleus where it regulates the expression of specific target genes related to proliferation and differentiation. Studies in mice support a role for Stat5 as a proto-oncogene in mammary tumors; however, the analysis of Stat5 in human breast malignancies suggests a role of Jak2/Stat5 pathway in the restriction of carcinogenesis (112).

When Jak2 or Stat5 are dysregulated, two important hallmarks of cancer are stimulated: evasion from apoptosis and self-sufficiency in growth signals (113). In fact, hyperactive Stat5 has been detected in a subset of human breast cancer cases, even though no genomic alterations in Jak2 and Stat5 were reported (114). Stat5a was found to be activated in a high proportion of breast cancers. Approximately 76% of human breast tumors displayed nuclear localized, tyrosine phosphorylated Stat5a (114).



This notion that hyperactive Jak2/Stat5 pathway leads to neoplastic formation is supported by studies in caveolin-1 (Cav-1) knockout mice (115–121). The loss of Cav-1 eliminates the inhibition of Jak2 signaling, resulting in hyperactivation of Stat5a and hyperplastic, well-differentiated mammary tumors. The hyperactivation of Stat5a was also associated with increased expression of ER α and Cyclin D1 (115,116,118,120). Recently, constitutively active and over expression of the wildtype Stat5 has been shown to promote the occurrence of sporadic mammary cancers in mice (122). Both animal models developed highly differentiated micropapillary and papillary adenocarcinomas after 8 to 12 months. However, Stat5 cannot be considered a potent proto-oncogene because only 10% of these transgenic mice exhibited mammary cancer within two years.

In a larger study investigating three separate clinical materials consisting of healthy breast specimens, as well as a progression series of primary lymph node-negative, primary lymph node-positive, and metastatic breast cancer totaling more than 1,100 breast specimens, immunohistochemistry was utilized to detect active, tyrosine-phosphorylated Stat5 (123). They found that Stat5 activation, but not Stat5 protein expression, was gradually lost during cancer progression, with detectable activation in 100% of healthy breast specimens compared with less than 20% of node-positive breast cancer and metastases. In fact, Stat5 activation in tumors was associated with favorable prognosis. These findings were further supported through work done by Yamashita and colleagues. They found in ER-positive breast cancer, Stat5 protein levels were associated with favorable prognosis and were also predictive of therapeutic response to antiestrogen therapy (124).

The current working hypothesis for the biological mechanism to explain the favorable prognostic effects associated with activated Stat5 is that it promotes differentiation and



inhibits invasive characteristics (125). This hypothesis has been supported by several independent reports that demonstrate a positive correlation between breast tumor histological differentiation and activation of Stat5 (114,124,126).

Stat5 may exert its effects on the Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway. MAPKs are common intra-cellular signaling networks in response to cytokines or stress on the cell (127,128). The cAMP-stimulated MAPK pathway activates apoptosis, inflammation, and fibrosis in the kidney (128). Specifically, MAPK family members, c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) and p38, are known to be involved in the regulation of apoptosis (127,128). JNK and p38 activation also repress RAR expression, leading to apoptosis. Jak2/Stat5 pathway has been shown to affect the JNK/p38 cascade in hepatocytes, macrophages, and adipocytes (129–131). Chen et al (132) showed that an increase in the ratio of serum apo-RBP to holo-RBP influenced the binding of RBP to STRA6. Interactions of holo-RBP with its receptor increased, leading to enhanced phosphorylation of Jak2 and Stat5 initiating an increase in the production of AC6-catalyzed cAMP. This, taken together, prompts apoptosis through the suppression of CRBP-I and RARα and though the activation of JNK and p38.

Role of Vitamin A in Carcinogenesis

Given that vitamin A deficiency characteristically results in a failure of differentiation of epithelial cells without the impairment of proliferation, it is reasonable to question the possible role of vitamin A in the etiology of carcinomas. In fact, the metaplastic changes in squamous cells seen in vitamin A deficiency are morphologically similar to precancerous lesions induced experimentally. It has been proposed that retinoic acid can upregulate RARs in columnar and squamous epithelial cells of the skin, which can, in turn, complex with



proto-oncogenes, such as c-fos, to prevent malignant transformation (133). Studies with retinoic acid indicate that it could, to some extent, reduce several types of tumors in mammalians (134–137).

Although the use of retinoic acid, which is rapidly degraded and eliminated from the body, avoids the problem of chronic hypervitaminosis, its substantial toxicity makes it unsuitable for regular clinical use. Therefore, more than 1,500 retinoids have been synthesized and tested for potential anti-carcinogenicity. Several have been found to effectively inhibit tumor growth and appearance in several organs of animals. These retinoids include 13-*cis*-retinoic acid, *N*-ethylretinamide, *N*-(-2-hydroxyethyl)-retinamide, etretinate, and *N*-(2,3,-dihydroxypropyl)-retinamide (138–142). Although some of these synthetic retinoids have yielded hopeful results in clinical trials, the consensus is that although retinoids currently available can delay tumorigenesis, they cannot do so at doses that are not toxic (143).

Epidemiological studies investigating the relationship between vitamin A intake and human cancer support the hypothesis that low vitamin A status may increase cancer risk, as well as suggest that individuals who consume three or more servings of fruits and vegetables each day, particularly those rich in carotenoids, have lower risks of several types of cancer in comparison with those who do not (144). These findings come from both case control and cohort studies. They have shown inverse associations between the consumption of the provitamin A, β -carotene, and the risk of lung and stomach cancer (145,146). However, these studies only indicate modest protective effect against breast and colon cancer, and such associations with prostate cancer have been inconsistent (147–149). Unfortunately, problems that often occur with epidemiological studies and may produce confounding variables



include inconsistent and often imprecise ways of reporting the dietary intake of vitamin A in free-living people, the difficulty in differentiating preformed vitamin A and carotenoids, and the difficulties in interpreting serum retinol concentrations.

Abnormal retinoid metabolism in cancer

The concentration of retinol is primarily regulated by STRA6, LRAT, and retinol ester hydrolase (REH) (19,93). Alterations in retinol metabolism, which occurs in many types of cancers, leads to lower retinol uptake and intracellular levels of retinol, a lower conversion of retinol to retinoic acid, and finally, a greater conversion of retinoic acid to its less biologically active metabolites ultimately resulting in vitamin A deficiency.

A reduction or loss of retinol esterification, the storage form of vitamin A in the cells, produces a reduction in total retinol accumulation and retinyl ester storage in the cells. An example of this is LRAT knockout mice, where the lack of esterification of retinol makes the mice more susceptible to vitamin A deficiency (150,151). LRAT is responsible for converting retinol to retinyl esters and also plays a role in the uptake of retinol through metabolism to the storage form of vitamin A. Various human cancers, both in cell lines and in tissue samples from tumors in patients, including cancers of the oral cavity, skin, bladder, kidney, prostate, and breast, have abnormally low intracellular retinyl ester levels and decreased LRAT expression (150,152–156). Therefore, low levels of LRAT expression results in lower concentrations of retinol in the cell due to a decrease in uptake of retinol from the holo-RBP complex and, in fact, this outcome was observed in renal cancer cells (153).



Once in the cell, retinol is first oxidized to retinal by retinol dehyrogenases (RDHs), and then retinal is metabolized further to retinoic acid by retinaldehyde dehydrogenases (ALDHs). ALDH1a2 is expressed at aberrantly low levels in many human prostate and breast cancers compared to their normal tissue counterparts, as well as in the TRAMP mouse model of prostate cancer (157–159). In fact, retinoic acid levels are high in normal colorectal cells, because RDH is highly expressed in normal epithelial cells. In normal cells, the protein adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) promotes the expression of RDH by degrading its transcriptional repressor, as well as degrading β -catenin. β -catenin can activate the cytochrome P450 enzyme, CYP26A1. Members of the cytochrome P450 family, including CYP26A1, can degrade retinoic acid to less biologically active metabolites. Therefore with the presence of normal APC function, CYP26A1 is present at low levels and degradation of retinoic acid into less biologically active metabolites is regulated. However, in tumorgenesis, APC function is lost and β -catenin accumulates. Enhanced activation of β -catenin pathways leads to enhanced expression of CYP26A1 and increased expression of RDH's transcriptional repressor. In fact, CYP26A1 has been shown to be highly expressed in human primary breast cancers, promoting cell survival and tumorigenesis (160). Also, the loss of RDH expression leads to a lower levels of retinoic acid in the cell due to degradation. Thus, impairment of both the synthesis and the metabolism of the bioactive metabolites of retinol can be observed in cancer cells relative to normal cells.

Additionally, the mechanism by which retinoid signaling pathway may become abnormal in carcinomas is through the silencing of RAR β_2 due to hypermethylation of the RAR β_2 gene and its promoter. The promoter is retinoic acid responsive in normal cells; however, in carcinoma cells the retinoid responsiveness is often lost (161). This observation



has been made in oral and epidermal human squamous cell carcinomas, head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, as well as breast, lung, and prostate cancer (161–165). The fact that the RAR β_2 is not mutated or deleted suggests that epigenetic events are taking place. Several studies have shown that RAR β_2 RARE is epigenetically silenced in many cancer types (108,166–169). RAR β_2 gene repression is due to a combination of local histone deacetylation and CpG island methylation resulting in resistance to the growth inhibitory effects of retinoic acid.

Naturally occurring derivatives of vitamin A, especially retinoic acid, are potent inhibitors of tumor growth in the mammary gland. Hence, developing dietary strategies that optimize tissue concentrations of vitamin A may be critical in reducing the incidence of cancer. We believe the first step toward this goal is to discover the mechanism by which vitamin A is transported into cells. This will assist in establishing how vitamin A levels can be modulated in target tissue, and how optimal vitamin A nutrition can reduce the incidence of cancer.

In our laboratory, I have examined the role of STRA6 in mediating cell cycle arrest and apoptosis by the addition of retinoic acid and the holo-RBP complex due, in part, at the transcriptional/translational levels of vitamin A tissue specific gene expression, specifically several cell cycle progression proteins. In the following chapters, original research is presented, as is a discussion based on my observations.



CHAPTER 2. METHODS

Cell Culture

The human colon adenocarcinoma cell line, Caco-2, the human mammary gland ductal carcinoma cell line, T-47D, the human prostate adenocarcinoma cell line, PC-3, and the human ovary adenocarcinoma cell line, OVCAR-3 were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (Rockville, MD, USA). Mediatech cellgro* Minimum Essential Medium Eagle (MEM), RPMI 1640 Medium, and F12K Medium, Fetal Bovine Serum, and Penicillin Streptomycin Solution (5000 IU Penicillin, 5000µg/mL Streptomycin) were all purchased from Fisher Scientific (Pittsburgh, PA, USA). Plastic dishes, plates, and flasks were obtained from Corning (Corning, NY).

Cell Culture Treatments

Cells were plated in 6 well plates or in cell culture petri dishes at a cell density of 2 x 10^5 or 1 x 10^6 cells, respectively. After 48 hours of incubation at 37°C and 5% CO₂, the growth medium was replaced with fresh, serum-free medium containing all-*trans* retinoic acid at the final desired concentration (0, 0.1, 1, or 10 μ M) and cells were incubated for an additional 48 hours.

In a separate experiment, after 48 hours of incubation with retinoic acid, medium was replaced with serum-free medium containing $2\mu M$ holo-RBP complex and incubated for an additional 8 hours.



Crystal Violet Assay

Caco-2, PC-3, and T-47D were plated in 6 well plates at a cell density of 2 x 10⁵ cells per well. Cells were treated as described above. The cell supernatant was aspirated and 1% glutaraldehyde was added to each well and incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature. The glutaraldehyde was discarded and the wells were blotted gently with a paper towel. In each well 0.1% crystal violet dye was added and incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature. The dye was discarded and the wells were again blotted gently with a paper towel. The plates were then placed in a container filled with running tap water and destained for several minutes. The plates were allowed to air-dry overnight. 0.2% Triton X-100 was added to each well and the plates were incubated for 30 minutes on a shaker at room temperature. From each well, Triton X-100 was transferred to a 96 well plate. Optical density was measured reading the absorbance of each well at 562nm. Three wells were measured for each treatment group.

mRNA Extraction and Reverse Transcriptase-Quantitative PCR

Cells were plated in 6 well plates at a cell density of 2 x 10^5 cells per well, and treated as described above. Recovery of total RNA was performed as described by the Trizol reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) protocol. The RNA was quantified by optical density reading using a NanoDrop ND-1000 Spectrophotometer v.3.3.0 (NanoDrop products, Wilmington, DE, USA). Reverse transcription of 2 µg of purified RNA was performed using iScript cDNA synthesis kit (BioRad, Hercules, CA, USA). All primers were designed for use with the following thermal cycler parameters: 95°C for 3 min, followed by 40 cycles of 95 °C for 15s, 60°C for 30s, and 72°C for 30s. The primer sequences for STRA6, CD3, CDK4,


p21, CDK2, CD1, and 18S are reported in Table 1. Reverse transcriptase-quantitative PCR reactions were performed on an iCycler using IQ SYBR Green Supermix (BioRad, Hercules, CA, USA). Data was normalized against 18S RNA.

Primer	Sequence
STRA6 Forward	5'-TGC CAC CTT TCT GAG ACC GTT TCT-3'
STRA6 Reverse	5'-ATG TGC CAG GTT CTA GGT GGT GAA-3'
CD3 Forward	5'-TGT CCA CAC ACG CAT TCA GAT – 3'
CD3 Reverse	5'-CTG GCA CCA AAC GAT CCC TT-3'
CDK4 Forward	5'-TTT GTG GCC CTC AAG AGT GTG AGA-3'
CDK4 Reverse	5'-AAA GCC TCC AGT CGC CTC AGT AAA-3'
p21 Forward	5'-TTA GCA GCG GAA CAA GGA GTC AGA-3'
p21 Reverse	5'-ACA CTA AGC ACT TCA GTG CCT CCA-3'
CDK2 Forward	5'-AGA TGG ACG GAG CTT GTT ATC GCA-3'
CDK2 Reverse	5'-TGG CTT GGT CAC ATC CTG GAA GAA-3'
CD1 Forward	5'- GGC TGG GAA TAT GGC CAA GCA TTT-3'
CD1 Reverse	5'-TGG GCA GGT GTC ACT GAG AAG ATT-3'
18S Forward	5'-CCA GAG CGA AAG CAT TTG CCA AGA-3'
18S Reverse	5'-AAT CAA CGC AAG CTT ATG ACC CGC-3'

Table 1. RT-qPCR Primer Sequences



Western Blots

Cells were plated in cell culture petri dishes at 1×10^6 cells per dish, and treated as described above. To harvest protein for analysis, media from cells was aspirated, and cells were rinsed once with sterilized 1x phosphate buffered saline (1x PBS) (137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 4.3 mM Na₂HPO₄, 1.47 mM KH₂PO₄). Lysis buffer containing 2x Laemlli buffer and protease inhibitor cocktail (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA) was added to each petri dish. The petri dishes were then scraped using a tissue culture cell scraper (Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA, USA). To determine protein concentration, a bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay was conducted using BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA) for each well against an albumin standard. Total cellular proteins were separated by electrophoresis using 10% SDS-polyacrylamide gels (SDS-PAGE) and transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane for western blot analyses. After application of Ponceau stain to determine loading lanes, the membranes were blocked with 5% skim milk in 1x PBS for one hour at room temperature, and then incubated with monoclonal antibody specific for p21 (1:200) (BD Pharmingen), CD1 (1:500), CD3 (1:100), CDK2 (1:400), CDK4 (1:500), STRA6 (1:100), or β-actin (1:1000) (abcam, Cambride, MA, USA) overnight at 4°C. After washing three times with 0.1% Tween-1x PBS for 5 min, the membranes were incubated for 1 hour with anti-rabbit IgG secondary antibody conjugated with horseradish peroxidase (1:5000) or with anti-mouse IgG secondary antibody conjugated with horseradish peroxidase (1:5000) (SouthernBiotech, Birmingham, AL, USA), accordingly. After washing the membranes with 0.1% Tween-1x PBS twice for 10 minutes and twice with 1x PBS for 5 minutes, the signal was detected using the SuperSignal West Dura Extended Duration Substrate or Supersignal West Femto Extended Duration Substrate (Thermo Scientific,



Rockford, IL, USA). Relative densities were determined using ImageJ software obtained from the National Institute of Health (Bethesda, MD, USA).

Fluorescent Microscopy Retinol Uptake Assay

Conjugating RBP with Alexa Fluor 488

500 μL 1x PBS was added to Human Retinol Binding Protein crystals (Scripps Laboratories, San Diego, CA, USA) for a final concentration of 2 mg/ml, and conjugated with Alexa Fluor 488 following Invitrogen labeling kit protocol (Invitrogen, Eugene, OR, USA). The Alexa Fluor 488-RBP complex was saturated with molar excess of all-*trans* retinol (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA), and placed in a 37°C water bath for one hour. Column separation was used to purify the Alexa Fluor 488-holo-RBP following the Econo-Pac 10DG Columns Instruction Manual (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA).

RBP uptake assay

 2×10^5 cells were plated in Lab-Tek II Chamber slide system (Nalge Nunc Internationsl, Naperville, IL, USA) and incubated for 48 hours, and treated as described above. Media was aspirated and serum-free media containing 1µM Alexa-488-labeled RBP conjugated to retinol and incubated for 30 minutes. Media containing fluorescent probe was aspirated and ice-cold formaldehyde was added to each well, covered with aluminum foil, and incubated at room temperature for 6 minutes. The formaldehyde was removed and the slides were washed five times with 1x PBS. Wells were then removed from the slides, and slides were mounted using Prolong Gold Anti-fade with DAPI (Invitrogen, Eugene, OR, USA). Fluorescent images were captured on an Olympus AX70 microscope with a Spot RT digital camera.



Radioactivity Retinol Uptake Assay

Conjugating RBP with ³H-retinol

500 μL 1x PBS was added to Human Retinol Binding Protein crystals for a final concentration of 2 mg/ml, saturated with [11,12-³H(N)]-retinol (PerkinElmer, Wiltham, MA, USA), and placed in a 37°C water bath for one hour. Column separation was used to purify the holo-RBP following Econo-Pac 10DG Columns Instruction Manual.

Retinol Uptake assay

Cells were plated in 6 well plates at 2 x 10⁵ cells per well and incubated and treated as described above. Media was aspirated from wells and fresh media containing 1µM ³H-retinol-RBP was added to each well and incubated for one hour. Media containing ³H-retinol-RBP was removed and wells were washed twice with ice cold 1x PBS. Lysis buffer (40 mM Tris pH 7.4, 120 mM NaCl, 0.5% Triton X-100, 0.3% 1x SDS, and 3x dH₂O) was added to the wells and placed on a shaker for 15 minutes. Lysate was transferred into scintillation vials containing 5ml of Scintiverse [™] BD Cocktail (Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA, USA). Cellular lysate levels of radioactivity were measured in disintegrations per minute (DPM) using Packard 1900 TR Liquid Scintillation Analyzer.

Statistics

Data was analyzed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), followed by multiple comparison tests (Dunnett or Tukey as appropriate), two-way ANOVA, or linear regression with Graph Pad Prism software version 3.0 for Windows (GraphPad Software,



San Diego, California USA). Differences between means and linear relationships were considered significant with p values < 0.05 were obtained.



CHAPTER 3. RESULTS

Retinoic acid has been shown to enhance the expression of STRA6 in F9 cells (67). To ascertain the effects of retinoic acid on T-47D, PC-3, Caco-2, and OVCAR-3 cell lines, we treated these cells with 0, 0.1, 1, or 10 µM concentrations of all-*trans* retinoic acid. We utilized uptake assays, including radioactivity and fluorescent microscopy uptake assays, to determine the effect of retinoic acid treatment on retinol uptake from the holo-RBP complex, as well as RT-qPCR and western blot analysis to determine the effect retinoic acid had on gene and protein expression. Finally, we utilized the crystal violet assay to determine retinoic acid's effect on cell viability.

Retinol uptake over time

To determine the extent of retinol uptake from holo-RBP over time, we treated cells with a tritiated retinol (³H-retinol) bound to RBP as described above. T-47D, Caco-2, and PC-3 cells were grown in 6-well plates until confluent, and then treated with the ³H-retinol-RBP complex. The plates were harvested for cellular lysate at 0, 5, 15, 30, 60, 90, and 120 minutes (**Figure 4**). Our results showed a significant linear relationship between retinol uptake from the holo-RBP complex and time in both T-47D and PC-3 cell lines, where the correlation coefficient was 0.9859 and 0.9327 (p values for non-zero slope were <0.0001 and 0.0022, respectively) over a two-hour time course. However, Caco-2 cells did not have a significant correlation between retinol uptake and time and the slope was not significantly non-zero.



Effects of Retinoic Acid

STRA6 protein expression

To determine the effect retinoic acid treatment had on STRA6 expression, PC-3 and Caco-2 cells were treated with all-*trans* retinoic acid (0, .1, 1, or 10 μ M) in media for 48 hours, and then harvested for protein as described above. Our western blot analysis shows that STRA6 expression, in both cell lines, increased with increasing concentration of retinoic acid treatment (**Figure 5**).

Expression of cell cycle progression proteins

To determine the effects all-*trans* retinoic acid had on the expression of several other cell cycle progression proteins, we treated PC-3 and Caco-2 cells with 0, 0.1, 1, or 10μ M retinoic acid. Our western blot analysis shows a clear inhibition of the expression of CDK2, CDK4, CD1, and CD3 at the 10μ M retinoic acid treatment for both PC-3 and Caco-2 (**Figure 6**). We also found that CDK2 in both cell lines and CD3 in Caco-2 cells were inhibited at the 1μ M RA treatment. Conversely, the expression of the cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor, p21, was increased in both cell lines. Unfortunately, we were unable to fully elucidate CD1 and CDK4 protein expression in Caco-2 cell line at this time.

Change in gene expression

To quantify gene expression of STRA6 and several cell cycle progression proteins after treatment with retinoic acid, we determined the abundance of specific mRNA molecules utilizing reverse transcriptase-quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR). In Caco-2 cells, we saw an increase in the expression of STRA6 gene with increasing concentrations of



retinoic acid treatment, however this was not significant (**Figure 7A**). However, CDK2 and p21 expression stayed relatively the same throughout the treatment groups.

In OVCAR-3 cells, we saw a similar increase in STRA6 expression with increasing concentrations of retinoic acid treatment. In fact, STRA6 expression was significantly different in 1 μ M and 10 μ M concentrations compared to the control group (**Figure 7B**). However, CDK2, CDK4, p21, and CD1 expressions did not change throughout the retinoic acid treatments compared to the control group (**Figure 7C**).

We saw a similar, however non-significant, increase in STRA6 gene expression with increasing concentrations of retinoic acid in PC-3 cells (**Figure 7D**). CDK2 gene expression was significantly lower in 1 μ M retinoic acid treatment group compared to the control group. However, once again, CDK4, p21, and CD1 had no significant change in gene expression with retinoic acid treatment (**Figure 7E**).

In T-47D cells, we saw an increase in STRA6 expression with increasing concentrations of retinoic acid (**Figure 7F**). The 1 μ M retinoic acid treatment group was significantly different from the control group; however, the 10 μ M group was not significantly different from the control group. Although there was no significant difference seen in CD1, CDK2, and p21 gene expression, we did see a significant decreasing trend in CDK4 gene expression with increasing concentrations of retinoic acid (**Figure 7G**).

Cell viability

To determine cell viability, we utilized crystal violet assay using PC-3, T-47D, and Caco-2 cells lines treated with 0, .1, 1, or 10µM retinoic acid. Our results indicated a decrease in cell viability with increasing concentrations of retinoic acid in PC-3 cells (**Figure**



8). As expected, PC-3 cells treated with 10μ M retinoic acid were significantly different than the control group. However, we did not see a significant change in viability in T47-D and Caco-2 cells treated with retinoic acid compared to controls.

Retinol uptake

To determine the extent of retinol uptake from the holo-RBP complex, we treated PC-3, Caco-2, and T-47D cells with ³H-retinol bound to RBP after treatment with 0, 1, or 10µM all-*trans* retinoic acid and quantified the disintegrations per minute (dpm) using a scintillation counter. Our results show that PC-3 and T-47D cell lines increased the uptake of ³H-retinol from the holo-RBP complex with increased concentrations of retinoic acid (**Figure 9A**). PC-3 cells treated with 10µM RA had a significantly higher uptake of ³H-retinol compared to the control group and T-47D cells treated with 1 and 10µM RA had significantly higher ³H-retinol uptake compared to the control group. However, we did not see a significant change in ³H-retinol uptake in Caco-2 cells with RA treatment.

We also utilized fluorescent microscopy to determine retinol uptake from the holo-RBP complex. We treated PC-3, Caco-2, and T-47D cells with Alexa Fluor-488 conjugated holo-RBP complex after treatment with 0 or 1µM retinoic acid. Our results show that RBP bound to the cell surface increased with retinoic acid treatment in all cell lines (**Figure 9B**).

Effects of Holo-RBP

Holo-RBP complex has recently been shown to phosphorylate the SH2 binding domain on STRA6, leading to phosphorylation and activation of the Jak2/Stat5 pathway (170). This complex has also been shown to mediate apoptosis through the enhancement of Jak2/Stat5 cascade by up-regulating adenylate cyclase 6, increasing cAMP, enhancing the



JNK/p38 cascade, and suppressing the CRBP-I/RAR α expression in HK-2 and human umbilical vein endothelial cells (132). To determine the effect of the holo-RBP complex on the expression of several cell cycle progression proteins in T-47D, PC-3, and Caco-2 cell, we treated these cell lines with the holo-RBP complex in the presence or absence of 1 μ M RA. To determine holo-RBP's effects on STRA6 gene and protein expression, as well as cell cycle progression proteins expression, we utilized RT-qPCR and western blot analysis. Finally, we utilized the crystal violet assay to determine holo-RBP effect on cell viability.

STRA6 expression

We utilized western blot analysis to determine the expression of STRA6 in PC-3 and Caco-2 cells treated holo-RBP complex in the presence or absence of 1µM RA. STRA6 expression was inhibited in groups treated with holo-RBP, with or without retinoic acid treatment in PC-3 cells. In fact, expression levels are completely inhibited when treated with both retinoic acid and holo-RBP. However, we were unable to obtain data for Caco-2 cells due to poor antibody signaling and background noise (**Figure 10**).

Effects of holo-RBP on protein expression

We saw similar results for the expression levels of cell cycle progression proteins CD1, CDK2, and CDK4, as well as the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor, p21. When PC-3 cells were treated with holo-RBP, regardless of the retinoic acid treatment, protein expression levels were inhibited (**Figure 10**). CDK4 and p21 were fully inhibited when PC-3 cells were treated with both retinoic acid and holo-RBP complex. In PC-3 and Caco-2 cells, CDK2's expression levels were fully inhibited by holo-RBP treatment, with or without retinoic acid



treatment. In both cell lines, CD1 expression levels, as well as CDK4 levels in Caco-2 cells, were down regulated by the addition of the holo-RBP complex.

Change in gene expression

To quantify the change in gene expression for the cell cycle progression proteins, as well as for STRA6 and p21, we utilized RT-qPCR for PC-3 and T-47D cells were treated with the holo-RBP complex, with or without 1 μ M all*-trans* retinoic acid treatment. Expression levels for CDK2 and CDK4 significantly decreased with holo-RBP complex treatment, regardless of retinoic acid treatment (**Figure 11A and 11B**). CD1, in both cell lines, and p21 expression levels in PC-3 cells decreased with the addition of holo-RBP, however these results were not significant (**Figure 11C, 11D, and 11E**, respectively). Interestingly, STRA6 expression levels increased with the addition of holo-RBP in both PC-3 and T47-D cells, however these results are not significant (**Figure 11F and 11G**) For all proteins, in PC3 cells, there was no interaction between the retinoic acid treatment and the holo-RBP treatment. However, we did see an interaction between retinoic acid and holo-RBP in Caco-2 cells with STRA6 mRNA abundance (p = 0.0032).

Effects on cell viability

To determine cell viability, we utilized crystal violet assay with PC-3, Caco-2, and T-47D cells treated with holo-RBP complex in the presence or absence of retinoic acid. For all cell lines, cell viability was significantly disrupted with the addition of the holo-RBP complex, with or without retinoic acid treatment (**Figure 12**).





Figure 4. Retinol Uptake Over Time.

T-47D, PC-3, and Caco-2 cells were treated with ³H-retinol bound to RBP. Cells were harvested at 0, 5, 15, 30, 60, 90, and 120 minutes time points. Retinol uptake was determined in disintegrations per minute (DPM) using a scintillation counter. T-47D and PC-3 cells had a significant linear regression (p value < 0.01), whereas Caco-2 did not have a significant correlation between time and retinol uptake. Figure shows means with SEM and linear regression (n=3).







В.



Figure 5. Effects of Retinoic Acid on STRA6 Expression

PC-3 and Caco-2 cells were treated with 0, .1, 1, or 10μ M retinoic acid. Western blot analysis was utilized (A) and quantified (B) using ImageJ software to determine protein expression.







В.



Figure 6. Effects of Retinoic Acid on Cell Cycle Progression Protein Expression

PC-3 and Caco-2 cells were treated with 0, 0.1, 1, or 10μ M retinoic acid. Western blot analysis was utilized (A) and quantified (B) using ImageJ software to determine protein expression.



A.

Caco-2 treated with Retinoic Acid



B.











E.









Figure 7. Effects of Retinoic Acid on Gene Expression Levels

PC-3, Caco-2, OVCAR-3, and T-47D cells were treated with 0, 0.1, 1, or 10 μ M retinoic acid. Total mRNA was quantified using RT-qPCR methods and normalized against 18S expression levels. (* = p < 0.05 compared to 0 μ M RA) (A) Caco-2 gene expression, (B and C) OVCAR-3 gene expression, (D and E) PC-3 gene expression, and (F and G) T47-D gene expression after treatment with all-*trans* retinoic acid.





Treatment with Retinoic Acid

Figure 8. Effects of Retinoic Acid on Cell Viability

PC-3, T-47D, and Caco-2 cells were treated with 0, 0.1, 1, or 10μ M retinoic acid. Cell viability was measured using crystal violet methods. (* = p < 0.05 compared to 0μ M RA)



A.



Β.



Figure 9. Effects of Retinoic Acid on Retinol Uptake

PC-3, Caco-2, and T-47D cells were treated with 0, 0.1, 1, or 10 μ M retinoic acid. Retinol uptake from the holo-RBP complex was determined using a scintillation counter to measure the amount of 3H-retinol uptake (A) and fluorescent microscopy to measure the amount of Alexa-488-holo-RBP bound to the surface (B). (* = p < 0.05 compared to 0 μ M RA)



A.

B.





Figure 10. Effects of Holo-RBP on Protein Expression

PC-3 and Caco-2 cells were treated with 0 or 1μ M retinoic acid with or without 2μ M holo-RBP. Western blot analysis was utilized (A) and quantified (B) using ImageJ software to determine protein expression.



А.

B.













PC-3 treated with Retinoic Acid and Holo-RBP





Figure 11. Effects of Holo-RBP on Gene Expression Levels

PC-3 and T-47D cells were treated with 0 or 1 μ M all-*trans* retinoic acid with or without 2 μ M holo-RBP. Total mRNA was quantified using RT-qPCR methods and normalized against 18S expression levels. (* = p < 0.05 compared to 0 μ M RA) (A) PC-3 CDK2 gene expression, (B) PC-3 CDK4 expression, (C) PC-3 CD1 expression, (D) T-47D CD1 expression, (E) PC-3 p21 expression, (F) PC-3 STRA6 expression, and (G) T-47D STRA6 expression.





Figure 12. Effects of Holo-RBP on Cell Viability

PC-3, T-47D, and Caco-2 cells were treated with 0 or 1 μ M retinoic acid and 2 μ M holo-RBP. Cell viability was measured using crystal violet methods. (* = p < 0.05 compared to 0 μ M RA)



CHAPTER 4. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

STRA6 is expressed in various tissues, including the eye, brain, kidney, reproductive systems, skins, lungs, and heart (56,68–73). Kawaguchi et al. confirmed that STRA6 transports retinol into the cell from the holo-RBP complex and that its mechanism of uptake is not dependent on endocytosis (20). Recently, it was also shown that the binding of holo-RBP complex to STRA6 can induce phosphorylation at the SH2 binding domain on STRA6, leading to the activation of Jak2/Stat5 signaling cascade (170).

STRA6 was initially isolated as a retinoic acid-inducible gene in P19 embryonal carcinoma cells (171), as well as in HCT116 and WiDr colon adenocarcinoma cells (67). In the current study, we confirmed that STRA6 protein expression is inducible by ATRA treatment in pancreatic and colon carcinoma cell lines. We also show that STRA6 mRNA expression increases with ATRA treatment in PC-3, Caco-2, T-47D, and OVCAR-3 cell lines (8, 2, 165, and 59 fold increase in STRA6 mRNA expression levels after treatment with 1µM ATRA treatment, respectively).

This increase in STRA6 expression would allow for increased binding of the holo-RBP complex allowing for increased 1:1 molar binding of the two constituents, as well as increased uptake of retinol into these cells by STRA6. In fact, our results show that retinol uptake from the holo-RBP complex is not only time dependent, but also increases with ATRA treatment in PC-3 and T-47D cells.

It has been previously shown that a novel retinoid, AHPN, was able to induce p21 expression, as well as inhibit cyclin dependent kinases, CDK2 and CDK4 in several lung



carcinoma cell lines (172). All-trans retinoic acid was also shown to promote degradation of cyclin D1 protein through ubiquitin-mediated proteasomal targeting in human bronchial epithelial cells and human Ntera2 teratocarcinoma cells (173–175). In addition, all-trans retinoic acid was found to inhibit cyclin D1 and cyclin D3 expression levels and inhibit the expression levels of CDK2 and CDK4 in MCF-7, ZR-75, and T-47D breast carcinoma cells (173,176). 9-cis-retinoic acid was found to increase the amount of the CDK inhibitor, p21 protein in MKN-7 cell and U937 cells (177,178). In our current study, we hypothesized that ATRA would stimulate the expression of p21, the cyclin kinase inhibitor, as well as a decrease in the expression of several cell cycle progression proteins, CDK2, CDK4, CD1, and CD3. Our results show a down regulation of the cell cycle progression proteins in PC-3 and Caco-2 cells, as well as an increase in the expression of p21 with retinoic acid treatment. However, our results for the change in gene expression using RT-qPCR analysis for the cell cycle progression proteins did not significantly change with the addition of retinoic acid at any concentration, with the exception of CDK4 in T-47D and PC-3 cells. Our results are similar to several studies, finding that although retinoic acid does not alter cyclin D1 mRNA expression, it does increase the rate of ubiquitin-mediated proteasomal targeting of cyclin D1 (173–175). However, more information is needed to conclude that these proteins are in fact being ubiquitined at a higher rate with the treatment of retinoic acid in our experimental model.

Cell viability decreased slightly with the addition of ATRA in PC-3, Caco-2, and T-47D cells and was only significantly decreased at the highest treatment level in T-47D cells. However, treatment with holo-RBP caused significant cell death and down regulation of all the proteins we examined. Chen and his colleagues recently showed that an increase in the



50

ratio of apo- to holo-RBP may influence the binding activity with STRA6 in HK-2 and human umbilical vein endothelial cells (132). The increased ratio triggered Jak2/Stat5 signaling, which sequentially activated AC6-catalyzed cAMP/PKA/JNK/p38 pathway to suppress CRBP-I and RAR α expression, ultimately causing apoptosis in renal and endothelial cells. Although our results are inconclusive, we predict that the apoptosis we saw in PC-3, Caco-2, and T-47D cells after treatment with holo-RBP may be in part due to this cascade of events and not due solely to increased uptake of retinol from the holo-RBP complex.

The identification of the novel signaling cascade mediated by holo-RBP complex, STRA6, Jak2, and Stat5 by Berry, Noy, and their colleagues establish that STRA6 is not only a vitamin A transporter but also a cell surface signaling receptor (111,170). However, little is known whether these two functions are inter-related, and whether STRA6 signaling modulates STRA6-mediated retinol uptake and if this uptake is necessary for signaling. In our current study, we examined the interactions between holo-RBP and all-*trans* retinoic acid. In PC-3 cell, we did not find an interaction and the apoptotic effects seem to be attributed to the holo-RBP treatment and not retinoic acid. In T-47D cells, we did see an interaction for STRA6 mRNA expression (p=0.0032). However, the mechanism for interaction needs further investigation.

Cytokine receptors frequently communicate with multiple signaling cascades. Although STRA6 has been shown to activate a Jak2/Stat5 pathway, it is possible that the receptor could function via other cascades. However, signaling through multiple pathways generated by STRA6's SH2 binding domain remains to be clarified.



51

Additionally, the involvement of holo-RBP and STRA6 in other biological functions remains to be investigated. Although available data demonstrates that STRA6 regulates the expression of genes involved in insulin responses and lipid homeostasis (111,170), the pathway must also control the expression of other, tissue- and cell-specific genes. Stat5 activation has been shown to promote cell cycle progression, angiogenesis, and survival (179,180). The observations that the expression of STRA6 is upregulated in several cancers and that holo-RBP induced signaling activates Stat5 suggests that the newly found cascade may play a role in cancer development (67). However, the exact role that STRA6 plays in tumor initiation and growth remains to be elucidated.

Conversely, an increase of apo-RBP/holo-RBP concentration may influence the binding of RBP to STRA6, enhance Jak2 and Stat5 phosphorylation, as well as increase AC6-catalyzed camp production leading to apoptosis through suppression of CRBP I and RARα and activation of JNK and p38 (132). Our results indicate that the addition of the holo-RBP complex leads to apoptosis. However, the mechanism of apoptosis needs further investigation.



52

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Olson JA. Benefits and liabilities of vitamin A and carotenoids. J. Nutr. 1996 Apr;126(4 Suppl):1208S–12S.
- 2. IARC. IARC Handbooks of Cancer Prevention, Vol. 2, Carotenoids. International Agency for Research on Cancer; 1998.
- 3. IARC. IARC Handbooks of Cacner Prevention, Vol. 3, Vitamin A. International Agency for Research on Cancer; 1998.
- Goodman DS. Vitamin A and retinoids in health and disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 1984 Apr 19;310(16):1023–31.
- 5. Wald G. The Molecular Basis of Visual Excitation. , Published online: 24 August 1968; | doi:10.1038/219800a0. 1968 Aug 24;219(5156):800–7.
- 6. Drager UC. Retinoic Acid Signaling in the Functioning Brain. Sci. STKE. 2006 Feb 28;2006(324):pe10.
- 7. Kam RKT, Deng Y, Chen Y, Zhao H. Retinoic acid synthesis and functions in early embryonic development. Cell & Bioscience. 2012 Mar 22;2(1):11.
- Mangelsdorf DJ, Kliewer SA, Kakizuka A, Umesono K, Evans RM. Retinoid receptors. Recent Prog. Horm. Res. 1993;48:99–121.
- 9. Ross AC, Gardner EM. The function of vitamin A in cellular growth and differentiation, and its roles during pregnancy and lactation. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 1994;352:187–200.
- 10. Chivot M. Retinoid therapy for acne. A comparative review. Am J Clin Dermatol. 2005;6(1):13–9.
- Love JM, Gudas LJ. Vitamin A, differentiation and cancer. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 1994 Dec;6(6):825–31.
- 12. Nau H. Teratogenicity of isotretinoin revisited: species variation and the role of all-trans-retinoic acid. J. Am. Acad. Dermatol. 2001 Nov;45(5):S183–187.
- 13. Niles RM. Signaling pathways in retinoid chemoprevention and treatment of cancer. Mutat. Res. 2004 Nov 2;555(1-2):81–96.
- 14. Stephensen CB. Vitamin A, infection, and immune function. Annu. Rev. Nutr. 2001;21:167–92.



- 15. Travis GH, Golczak M, Moise AR, Palczewski K. Diseases caused by defects in the visual cycle: retinoids as potential therapeutic agents. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 2007;47:469–512.
- Yang Q, Graham TE, Mody N, Preitner F, Peroni OD, Zabolotny JM, et al. Serum retinol binding protein 4 contributes to insulin resistance in obesity and type 2 diabetes. Nature. 2005 Jul 21;436(7049):356–62.
- 17. Zouboulis CC. Retinoids--which dermatological indications will benefit in the near future? Skin Pharmacol. Appl. Skin Physiol. 2001 Oct;14(5):303–15.
- Chambon P. A decade of molecular biology of retinoic acid receptors. FASEB J. 1996 Jul;10(9):940–54.
- (U.S.) C for FS and AN. Assessment of the Vitamin A Nutritional Status of the U.S. Population Based on Data Collected in the Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys. Life Sciences Research Office, Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology; 1985.
- Kawaguchi R, Yu J, Honda J, Hu J, Whitelegge J, Ping P, et al. A membrane receptor for retinol binding protein mediates cellular uptake of vitamin A. Science. 2007 Feb 9;315(5813):820–5.
- Bender DA. Nutritional Biochemistry of the Vitamins. Cambridge University Press; 2003.
- 22. Gropper SAS, Smith JL, Groff JL. Advanced nutrition and human metabolism. Cengage Learning; 2005.
- Molotkov A, Fan X, Duester G. Excessive vitamin A toxicity in mice genetically deficient in either alcohol dehydrogenase Adh1 or Adh3. European Journal of Biochemistry. 2002 May 9;269(10):2607–12.
- 24. Maeda A, Maeda T, Golczak M, Palczewski K. Retinopathy in mice induced by disrupted all-trans-retinal clearance. J. Biol. Chem. 2008 Sep 26;283(39):26684–93.
- Chen S, Gardner DG. Retinoic acid uses divergent mechanisms to activate or suppress mitogenesis in rat aortic smooth muscle cells. J. Clin. Invest. 1998 Aug 15;102(4):653–62.
- 26. Kubo Y, Wada M, Ohba T, Takahashi N. Formation of retinoylated proteins from retinoyl-CoA in rat tissues. J. Biochem. 2005 Oct;138(4):493–500.
- Takahashi N, Breitman TR. Retinoic acid acylation (retinoylation) of a nuclear protein in the human acute myeloid leukemia cell line HL60. J. Biol. Chem. 1989 Mar 25;264(9):5159–63.



- 28. Batten ML, Imanishi Y, Maeda T, Tu DC, Moise AR, Bronson D, et al. Lecithin-retinol acyltransferase is essential for accumulation of all-trans-retinyl esters in the eye and in the liver. J. Biol. Chem. 2004 Mar 12;279(11):10422–32.
- 29. Smith FR, Goodman DS. Vitamin A transport in human vitamin A toxicity. N. Engl. J. Med. 1976 Apr 8;294(15):805–8.
- Carpenter TO, Pettifor JM, Russell RM, Pitha J, Mobarhan S, Ossip MS, et al. Severe hypervitaminosis A in siblings: evidence of variable tolerance to retinol intake. J. Pediatr. 1987 Oct;111(4):507–12.
- 31. Krasinski SD, Russell RM, Otradovec CL, Sadowski JA, Hartz SC, Jacob RA, et al. Relationship of vitamin A and vitamin E intake to fasting plasma retinol, retinolbinding protein, retinyl esters, carotene, alpha-tocopherol, and cholesterol among elderly people and young adults: increased plasma retinyl esters among vitamin Asupplement users. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 1989 Jan;49(1):112–20.
- Croquet V, Pilette C, Lespine A, Vuillemin E, Rousselet MC, Oberti F, et al. Hepatic hyper-vitaminosis A: importance of retinyl ester level determination. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2000 Mar;12(3):361–4.
- 33. Ukleja A, Scolapio JS, McConnell JP, Spivey JR, Dickson RC, Nguyen JH, et al. Nutritional assessment of serum and hepatic vitamin A levels in patients with cirrhosis. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr. 2002 Jun;26(3):184–8.
- 34. Coghlan D, Cranswick NE. Complementary medicine and vitamin A toxicity in children. Med. J. Aust. 2001 Aug 20;175(4):223–4.
- 35. Blomhoff R, Wake K. Perisinusoidal stellate cells of the liver: important roles in retinol metabolism and fibrosis. FASEB J. 1991 Mar 1;5(3):271–7.
- 36. Straub O, Pfander H. Key to carotenoids. Birkhäuser; 1987.
- Ong DE. Retinoid metabolism during intestinal absorption. J. Nutr. 1993 Feb;123(2 Suppl):351–5.
- 38. Harrison EH, Hussain MM. Mechanisms Involved in the Intestinal Digestion and Absorption of Dietary Vitamin A. J. Nutr. 2001 May 1;131(5):1405–8.
- Food and Nutrition Board, Institute of Medicine. Dietary Reference Intakes. Washington, DC: National Academy Press; 2001.
- 40. Schmitz HH, Poor CL, Wellman RB, Erdman JW Jr. Concentrations of selected carotenoids and vitamin A in human liver, kidney and lung tissue. J. Nutr. 1991 Oct;121(10):1613–21.



- Napoli JL. Biosynthesis and metabolism of retinoic acid: roles of CRBP and CRABP in retinoic acid: roles of CRBP and CRABP in retinoic acid homeostasis. J. Nutr. 1993 Feb;123(2 Suppl):362–6.
- 42. Ong DE. Cellular transport and metabolism of vitamin A: roles of the cellular retinoidbinding proteins. Nutr. Rev. 1994 Feb;52(2 Pt 2):S24–31.
- Ross AC, Ternus ME. Vitamin A as a hormone: recent advances in understanding the actions of retinol, retinoic acid, and beta carotene. J Am Diet Assoc. 1993 Nov;93(11):1285–1290; quiz 1291–1292.
- 44. Nollevaux M-C, Guiot Y, Horsmans Y, Leclercq I, Rahier J, Geubel AP, et al. Hypervitaminosis A-induced liver fibrosis: stellate cell activation and daily dose consumption. Liver Int. 2006 Mar;26(2):182–6.
- 45. Dingle JT, Fell HB, Goodman DS. The effect of retinol and of retinol-binding protein on embryonic skeletal tissue in organ culture. J. Cell. Sci. 1972 Sep;11(2):393–402.
- 46. Bellovino D, Morimoto T, Tosetti F, Gaetani S. Retinol binding protein and transthyretin are secreted as a complex formed in the endoplasmic reticulum in HepG2 human hepatocarcinoma cells. Exp. Cell Res. 1996 Jan 10;222(1):77–83.
- Makover A, Soprano DR, Wyatt ML, Goodman DS. Localization of retinol-binding protein messenger RNA in the rat kidney and in perinephric fat tissue. J. Lipid Res. 1989 Feb;30(2):171–80.
- 48. Blaner WS, Obunike JC, Kurlandsky SB, al-Haideri M, Piantedosi R, Deckelbaum RJ, et al. Lipoprotein lipase hydrolysis of retinyl ester. Possible implications for retinoid uptake by cells. J. Biol. Chem. 1994 Jun 17;269(24):16559–65.
- 49. Bok D, Heller J. Transport of retinol from the blood to the retina: an autoradiographic study of the pigment epithelial cell surface receptor for plasma retinol-binding protein. Exp. Eye Res. 1976 May;22(5):395–402.
- Chen CC, Heller J. Uptake of retinol and retinoic acid from serum retinol-binding protein by retinal pigment epithelial cells. J. Biol. Chem. 1977 Aug 10;252(15):5216– 21.
- 51. Heller J. Interactions of plasma retinol-binding protein with its receptor. Specific binding of bovine and human retinol-binding protein to pigment epithelium cells from bovine eyes. J. Biol. Chem. 1975 May 25;250(10):3613–9.
- 52. Maraini G, Gozzoli F. Binding of retinol to isolated retinal pigment epithelium in the presence and absence of retinol-binding protein. Invest Ophthalmol. 1975 Oct;14(10):785–7.



- Rask L, Peterson PA. In vitro uptake of vitamin A from the retinol-binding plasma protein to mucosal epithelial cells from the monkey's small intestine. J. Biol. Chem. 1976 Oct 25;251(20):6360–6.
- Bhat MK, Cama HR. Gonadal cell surface receptor for plasma retinol-binding protein. A method for its radioassay and studies on its level during spermatogenesis. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 1979 Oct 4;587(2):273–81.
- 55. Hagen E, Myhre AM, Smeland S, Halvorsen B, Norum KR, Blomhoff R. Uptake of vitamin A in macrophages from physiologic transport proteins: role of retinol-binding protein and chylomicron remnants. J. Nutr. Biochem. 1999 Jun;10(6):345–52.
- MacDonald PN, Bok D, Ong DE. Localization of cellular retinol-binding protein and retinol-binding protein in cells comprising the blood-brain barrier of rat and human. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1990 Jun;87(11):4265–9.
- 57. Sivaprasadarao A, Boudjelal M, Findlay JB. Solubilization and purification of the retinol-binding protein receptor from human placental membranes. Biochem. J. 1994 Aug 15;302 (Pt 1):245–51.
- Smeland S, Bjerknes T, Malaba L, Eskild W, Norum KR, Blomhoff R. Tissue distribution of the receptor for plasma retinol-binding protein. Biochem. J. 1995 Jan 15;305 (Pt 2):419–24.
- 59. Sivaprasadarao A, Findlay JB. The interaction of retinol-binding protein with its plasma-membrane receptor. Biochem. J. 1988 Oct 15;255(2):561–9.
- Pfeffer BA, Clark VM, Flannery JG, Bok D. Membrane receptors for retinol-binding protein in cultured human retinal pigment epithelium. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 1986 Jul;27(7):1031–40.
- 61. Lidén M, Eriksson U. Development of a versatile reporter assay for studies of retinol uptake and metabolism in vivo. Exp. Cell Res. 2005 Nov 1;310(2):401–8.
- 62. Melhus H, Båvik CO, Rask L, Peterson PA, Eriksson U. Epitope mapping of a monoclonal antibody that blocks the binding of retinol-binding protein to its receptor. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 1995 May 5;210(1):105–12.
- 63. Sivaprasadarao A, Findlay JB. Structure-function studies on human retinol-binding protein using site-directed mutagenesis. Biochem. J. 1994 Jun 1;300 (Pt 2):437–42.
- 64. Bishop PD, Griswold MD. Uptake and metabolism of retinol in cultured Sertoli cells: evidence for a kinetic model. Biochemistry. 1987 Nov 17;26(23):7511–8.
- 65. Törmä H, Vahlquist A. Vitamin A uptake by human skin in vitro. Arch. Dermatol. Res. 1984;276(6):390–5.



- 66. Bouillet P, Oulad-Abdelghani M, Vicaire S, Garnier JM, Schuhbaur B, Dollé P, et al. Efficient cloning of cDNAs of retinoic acid-responsive genes in P19 embryonal carcinoma cells and characterization of a novel mouse gene, Stra1 (mouse LERK-2/Eplg2). Dev. Biol. 1995 Aug;170(2):420–33.
- Szeto W, Jiang W, Tice DA, Rubinfeld B, Hollingshead PG, Fong SE, et al. Overexpression of the retinoic acid-responsive gene Stra6 in human cancers and its synergistic induction by Wnt-1 and retinoic acid. Cancer Res. 2001 May 15;61(10):4197–205.
- 68. Baybutt RC, Hu L, Molteni A. Vitamin A deficiency injures lung and liver parenchyma and impairs function of rat type II pneumocytes. J. Nutr. 2000 May;130(5):1159–65.
- 69. Ikeda S, Kitagawa M, Imai H, Yamada M. The roles of vitamin A for cytoplasmic maturation of bovine oocytes. J. Reprod. Dev. 2005 Feb;51(1):23–35.
- Livera G, Rouiller-Fabre V, Pairault C, Levacher C, Habert R. Regulation and perturbation of testicular functions by vitamin A. Reproduction. 2002 Aug;124(2):173–80.
- 71. Varani J, Warner RL, Gharaee-Kermani M, Phan SH, Kang S, Chung JH, et al. Vitamin A antagonizes decreased cell growth and elevated collagen-degrading matrix metalloproteinases and stimulates collagen accumulation in naturally aged human skin. J. Invest. Dermatol. 2000 Mar;114(3):480–6.
- 72. Weiler R, Pottek M, Schultz K, Janssen-Bienhold U. Retinoic acid, a neuromodulator in the retina. Prog. Brain Res. 2001;131:309–18.
- 73. Xu Q, Lucio-Cazana J, Kitamura M, Ruan X, Fine LG, Norman JT. Retinoids in nephrology: promises and pitfalls. Kidney Int. 2004 Dec;66(6):2119–31.
- Kawaguchi R, Yu J, Wiita P, Ter-Stepanian M, Sun H. Mapping the membrane topology and extracellular ligand binding domains of the retinol binding protein receptor. Biochemistry. 2008 May 13;47(19):5387–95.
- 75. Hediger MA, Romero MF, Peng J-B, Rolfs A, Takanaga H, Bruford EA. The ABCs of solute carriers: physiological, pathological and therapeutic implications of human membrane transport proteinsIntroduction. Pflugers Arch. 2004 Feb;447(5):465–8.
- 76. Kawaguchi R, Yu J, Wiita P, Honda J, Sun H. An essential ligand-binding domain in the membrane receptor for retinol-binding protein revealed by large-scale mutagenesis and a human polymorphism. J. Biol. Chem. 2008 May 30;283(22):15160–8.
- Golzio C, Martinovic-Bouriel J, Thomas S, Mougou-Zrelli S, Grattagliano-Bessieres B, Bonniere M, et al. Matthew-Wood syndrome is caused by truncating mutations in the retinol-binding protein receptor gene STRA6. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 2007 Jun;80(6):1179–87.



- 78. Pasutto F, Sticht H, Hammersen G, Gillessen-Kaesbach G, Fitzpatrick DR, Nürnberg G, et al. Mutations in STRA6 cause a broad spectrum of malformations including anophthalmia, congenital heart defects, diaphragmatic hernia, alveolar capillary dysplasia, lung hypoplasia, and mental retardation. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 2007 Mar;80(3):550–60.
- 79. Isken A, Golczak M, Oberhauser V, Hunzelmann S, Driever W, Imanishi Y, et al. RBP4 disrupts vitamin A uptake homeostasis in a STRA6-deficient animal model for Matthew-Wood syndrome. Cell Metab. 2008 Mar;7(3):258–68.
- 80. Wang J, Steelman CK, Vincent R, Richburg D, Chang TS, Shehata BM. Two case reports of anophthalmia and congenital heart disease: Adding a new dimension to this association. Fetal Pediatr Pathol. 2010;29(5):291–8.
- Chassaing N, Golzio C, Odent S, Lequeux L, Vigouroux A, Martinovic-Bouriel J, et al. Phenotypic spectrum of STRA6 mutations: from Matthew-Wood syndrome to nonlethal anophthalmia. Hum. Mutat. 2009 May;30(5):E673–681.
- 82. Chitayat D, Sroka H, Keating S, Colby RS, Ryan G, Toi A, et al. The PDAC syndrome (pulmonary hypoplasia/agenesis, diaphragmatic hernia/eventration, anophthalmia/microphthalmia, and cardiac defect) (Spear syndrome, Matthew-Wood syndrome): report of eight cases including a living child and further evidence for autosomal recessive inheritance. Am. J. Med. Genet. A. 2007 Jun 15;143A(12):1268– 81.
- Kawaguchi R, Yu J, Ter-Stepanian M, Zhong M, Cheng G, Yuan Q, et al. Receptor-Mediated Cellular Uptake Mechanism That Couples to Intracellular Storage. ACS Chem. Biol. 2011;6(10):1041–51.
- 84. Wolf G. Multiple functions of vitamin A. Physiol. Rev. 1984 Jul;64(3):873–937.
- 85. Creek KE, St Hilaire P, Hodam JR. A comparison of the uptake, metabolism and biologic effects of retinol delivered to human keratinocytes either free or bound to serum retinol-binding protein. J. Nutr. 1993 Feb;123(2 Suppl):356–61.
- Resendes KK, Rosmarin AG. GA-binding protein and p300 are essential components of a retinoic acid-induced enhanceosome in myeloid cells. Mol. Cell. Biol. 2006 Apr;26(8):3060–70.
- 87. Gillespie RF, Gudas LJ. Retinoic acid receptor isotype specificity in F9 teratocarcinoma stem cells results from the differential recruitment of coregulators to retinoic response elements. J. Biol. Chem. 2007 Nov 16;282(46):33421–34.
- Giguere V, Ong ES, Segui P, Evans RM. Identification of a receptor for the morphogen retinoic acid. Nature. 1987 Dec 17;330(6149):624–9.



- 89. Petkovich M, Brand NJ, Krust A, Chambon P. A human retinoic acid receptor which belongs to the family of nuclear receptors. Nature. 1987 Dec 3;330(6147):444–50.
- 90. Benbrook D, Lernhardt E, Pfahl M. A new retinoic acid receptor identified from a hepatocellular carcinoma. Nature. 1988 Jun 16;333(6174):669–72.
- 91. Krust A, Kastner P, Petkovich M, Zelent A, Chambon P. A third human retinoic acid receptor, hRAR-gamma. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1989 Jul;86(14):5310–4.
- Heyman RA, Mangelsdorf DJ, Dyck JA, Stein RB, Eichele G, Evans RM, et al. 9-cis retinoic acid is a high affinity ligand for the retinoid X receptor. Cell. 1992 Jan 24;68(2):397–406.
- Allenby G, Bocquel MT, Saunders M, Kazmer S, Speck J, Rosenberger M, et al. Retinoic acid receptors and retinoid X receptors: interactions with endogenous retinoic acids. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1993 Jan 1;90(1):30–4.
- Swift ME, Wallden B, Wayner EA, Swisshelm K. Truncated RAR beta isoform enhances proliferation and retinoid resistance. J. Cell. Physiol. 2006 Dec;209(3):718– 25.
- Satyanarayana A, Kaldis P. Mammalian cell-cycle regulation: several Cdks, numerous cyclins and diverse compensatory mechanisms. Oncogene. 2009 Aug 20;28(33):2925–39.
- Bocchia M, Xu Q, Wesley U, Xu Y, Korontsvit T, Loganzo F, et al. Modulation of p53, WAF1/p21 and BCL-2 expression during retinoic acid-induced differentiation of NB4 promyelocytic cells. Leuk. Res. 1997 May;21(5):439–47.
- Hsu SL, Hsu JW, Liu MC, Chen LY, Chang CD. Retinoic acid-mediated G1 arrest is associated with induction of p27(Kip1) and inhibition of cyclin-dependent kinase 3 in human lung squamous carcinoma CH27 cells. Exp. Cell Res. 2000 Aug 1;258(2):322– 31.
- 98. Mummery CL, van den Brink CE, van der Saag PT, de Laat SW. The cell cycle, cell death, and cell morphology during retinoic acid-induced differentiation of embryonal carcinoma cells. Dev. Biol. 1984 Aug;104(2):297–307.
- 99. Sueoka N, Lee HY, Walsh GL, Hong WK, Kurie JM. Posttranslational mechanisms contribute to the suppression of specific cyclin:CDK complexes by all-trans retinoic acid in human bronchial epithelial cells. Cancer Res. 1999 Aug 1;59(15):3838–44.
- 100. Zhu WY, Jones CS, Kiss A, Matsukuma K, Amin S, De Luca LM. Retinoic acid inhibition of cell cycle progression in MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. Exp. Cell Res. 1997 Aug 1;234(2):293–9.



- 101. Lotan R, Neumann G, Lotan D. Characterization of retinoic acid-induced alterations in the proliferation and differentiation of a murine and a human melanoma cell line in culture. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1981 Feb 27;359:150–70.
- 102. Boyle JO, Langenfeld J, Lonardo F, Sekula D, Reczek P, Rusch V, et al. Cyclin D1 proteolysis: a retinoid chemoprevention signal in normal, immortalized, and transformed human bronchial epithelial cells. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 1999 Feb 17;91(4):373–9.
- 103. Faria TN, Mendelsohn C, Chambon P, Gudas LJ. The targeted disruption of both alleles of RARbeta(2) in F9 cells results in the loss of retinoic acid-associated growth arrest. J. Biol. Chem. 1999 Sep 17;274(38):26783–8.
- 104. Zhuang Y, Faria TN, Chambon P, Gudas LJ. Identification and characterization of retinoic acid receptor beta2 target genes in F9 teratocarcinoma cells. Mol. Cancer Res. 2003 Jun;1(8):619–30.
- 105. Suzui M, Shimizu M, Masuda M, Lim JTE, Yoshimi N, Weinstein IB. Acyclic retinoid activates retinoic acid receptor beta and induces transcriptional activation of p21(CIP1) in HepG2 human hepatoma cells. Mol. Cancer Ther. 2004 Mar;3(3):309– 16.
- 106. Chen H, Zhang H, Lee J, Liang X, Wu X, Zhu T, et al. HOXA5 acts directly downstream of retinoic acid receptor beta and contributes to retinoic acid-induced apoptosis and growth inhibition. Cancer Res. 2007 Sep 1;67(17):8007–13.
- 107. Li R, Faria TN, Boehm M, Nabel EG, Gudas LJ. Retinoic acid causes cell growth arrest and an increase in p27 in F9 wild type but not in F9 retinoic acid receptor beta2 knockout cells. Exp. Cell Res. 2004 Mar 10;294(1):290–300.
- 108. Sirchia SM, Ren M, Pili R, Sironi E, Somenzi G, Ghidoni R, et al. Endogenous reactivation of the RARbeta2 tumor suppressor gene epigenetically silenced in breast cancer. Cancer Res. 2002 May 1;62(9):2455–61.
- 109. Wan H, Oridate N, Lotan D, Hong WK, Lotan R. Overexpression of retinoic acid receptor beta in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cells increases their sensitivity to retinoid-induced suppression of squamous differentiation by retinoids. Cancer Res. 1999 Jul 15;59(14):3518–26.
- 110. Seewaldt VL, Johnson BS, Parker MB, Collins SJ, Swisshelm K. Expression of retinoic acid receptor beta mediates retinoic acid-induced growth arrest and apoptosis in breast cancer cells. Cell Growth Differ. 1995 Sep;6(9):1077–88.
- 111. Berry DC, Noy N. Signaling by vitamin A and retinol-binding protein in regulation of insulin responses and lipid homeostasis. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) -



Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids [Internet]. 2011 [cited 2011 Nov 9];(0). Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1388198111001211

- 112. Wagner K-U, Rui H. Jak2/Stat5 signaling in mammogenesis, breast cancer initiation and progression. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia. 2008 Mar;13(1):93–103.
- 113. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell. 2000 Jan 7;100(1):57-70.
- 114. Cotarla I, Ren S, Zhang Y, Gehan E, Singh B, Furth PA. Stat5a is tyrosine phosphorylated and nuclear localized in a high proportion of human breast cancers. Int. J. Cancer. 2004 Feb 20;108(5):665–71.
- 115. Li T, Sotgia F, Vuolo MA, Li M, Yang WC, Pestell RG, et al. Caveolin-1 mutations in human breast cancer: functional association with estrogen receptor alpha-positive status. Am. J. Pathol. 2006 Jun;168(6):1998–2013.
- 116. Park DS, Lee H, Frank PG, Razani B, Nguyen AV, Parlow AF, et al. Caveolin-1deficient mice show accelerated mammary gland development during pregnancy, premature lactation, and hyperactivation of the Jak-2/STAT5a signaling cascade. Mol. Biol. Cell. 2002 Oct;13(10):3416–30.
- 117. Sloan EK, Stanley KL, Anderson RL. Caveolin-1 inhibits breast cancer growth and metastasis. Oncogene. 2004 Oct 14;23(47):7893–7.
- 118. Li J, Hassan GS, Williams TM, Minetti C, Pestell RG, Tanowitz HB, et al. Loss of caveolin-1 causes the hyper-proliferation of intestinal crypt stem cells, with increased sensitivity to whole body gamma-radiation. Cell Cycle. 2005 Dec;4(12):1817–25.
- 119. Sotgia F, Schubert W, Pestell RG, Lisanti MP. Genetic ablation of caveolin-1 in mammary epithelial cells increases milk production and hyper-activates STAT5a signaling. Cancer Biol. Ther. 2006 Mar;5(3):292–7.
- 120. Sotgia F, Williams TM, Schubert W, Medina F, Minetti C, Pestell RG, et al. Caveolin-1 deficiency (-/-) conveys premalignant alterations in mammary epithelia, with abnormal lumen formation, growth factor independence, and cell invasiveness. Am. J. Pathol. 2006 Jan;168(1):292–309.
- 121. Williams TM, Cheung MW-C, Park DS, Razani B, Cohen AW, Muller WJ, et al. Loss of caveolin-1 gene expression accelerates the development of dysplastic mammary lesions in tumor-prone transgenic mice. Mol. Biol. Cell. 2003 Mar;14(3):1027–42.
- 122. Iavnilovitch E, Cardiff RD, Groner B, Barash I. Deregulation of Stat5 expression and activation causes mammary tumors in transgenic mice. Int. J. Cancer. 2004 Nov 20;112(4):607–19.


- 123. Nevalainen MT, Xie J, Torhorst J, Bubendorf L, Haas P, Kononen J, et al. Signal transducer and activator of transcription-5 activation and breast cancer prognosis. J. Clin. Oncol. 2004 Jun 1;22(11):2053–60.
- 124. Yamashita H, Nishio M, Ando Y, Zhang Z, Hamaguchi M, Mita K, et al. Stat5 expression predicts response to endocrine therapy and improves survival in estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer. Endocr. Relat. Cancer. 2006 Sep;13(3):885–93.
- 125. Sultan AS, Xie J, LeBaron MJ, Ealley EL, Nevalainen MT, Rui H. Stat5 promotes homotypic adhesion and inhibits invasive characteristics of human breast cancer cells. Oncogene. 2005 Jan 27;24(5):746–60.
- 126. Strauss BL, Bratthauer GL, Tavassoli FA. STAT 5a expression in the breast is maintained in secretory carcinoma, in contrast to other histologic types. Hum. Pathol. 2006 May;37(5):586–92.
- 127. Kyriakis JM, Avruch J. Mammalian mitogen-activated protein kinase signal transduction pathways activated by stress and inflammation. Physiol. Rev. 2001 Apr;81(2):807–69.
- 128. Tian W, Zhang Z, Cohen DM. MAPK signaling and the kidney. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 2000 Oct;279(4):F593–604.
- 129. Lejeune D, Dumoutier L, Constantinescu S, Kruijer W, Schuringa JJ, Renauld J-C. Interleukin-22 (IL-22) activates the JAK/STAT, ERK, JNK, and p38 MAP kinase pathways in a rat hepatoma cell line. Pathways that are shared with and distinct from IL-10. J. Biol. Chem. 2002 Sep 13;277(37):33676–82.
- Sodhi A, Tripathi A. Prolactin induced production of cytokines in macrophages involves Ca++ and p42/44 MAP kinase signaling pathway. Growth Factors. 2008 Aug;26(4):212–9.
- 131. Fuster G, Almendro V, Fontes-Oliveira CC, Toledo M, Costelli P, Busquets S, et al. Interleukin-15 affects differentiation and apoptosis in adipocytes: implications in obesity. Lipids. 2011 Nov;46(11):1033–42.
- 132. Chen C-H, Hsieh T-J, Lin K-D, Lin H-Y, Lee M-Y, Hung W-W, et al. Increased unbound retinol binding protein 4 concentration induced apoptosis through its receptor-mediated signaling. The Journal of Biological Chemistry [Internet]. 2012 Feb 3 [cited 2012 Feb 26]; Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22308028
- 133. Chuĭkin IA, Lianguzova MS, Pospelov VA. [Transcription of c-fos gene and DNA binding activity of transcription factor AP-1 increase upon differentiation of mouse F9 teratocarcinoma cells]. Tsitologiia. 2004;46(12):1080–90.



- 134. Muto Y, Moriwaki H, Shiratori Y. Prevention of second primary tumors by an acyclic retinoid, polyprenoic acid, in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. Digestion. 1998 Jul;59 Suppl 2:89–91.
- 135. McCormick DL, Rao KVN, Steele VE, Lubet RA, Kelloff GJ, Bosland MC. Chemoprevention of Rat Prostate Carcinogenesis by 9-Cis-Retinoic Acid. Cancer Res. 1999 Feb 2;59(3):521–4.
- 136. Hong WK, Endicott J, Itri LM, Doos W, Batsakis JG, Bell R, et al. 13-cis-retinoic acid in the treatment of oral leukoplakia. N. Engl. J. Med. 1986 Dec 11;315(24):1501–5.
- 137. Anzano MA, Byers SW, Smith JM, Peer CW, Mullen LT, Brown CC, et al. Prevention of Breast Cancer in the Rat with 9-Cis-Retinoic Acid as a Single Agent and in Combination with Tamoxifen. Cancer Res. 1994 Sep 1;54(17):4614–7.
- Shklar G, Schwartz J, Grau D, Trickler DP, Wallace KD. Inhibition of hamster buccal pouch carcinogenesis by 13-cis-retinoic acid. Oral Surg. Oral Med. Oral Pathol. 1980 Jul;50(1):45–52.
- Croft WA, Croft MA, Paulus KP, Williams JH, Wang CY, Lower GM Jr. Synthetic retinamides: effect on urinary bladder carcinogenesis by FANFT in Fischer rats. Carcinogenesis. 1981;2(6):515–7.
- 140. Quander RV, Leary SL, Strandberg JD, Yarbrough BA, Squire RA. Long-term effect of 2-hydroxyethyl retinamide on urinary bladder carcinogenesis and tumor transplantation in Fischer 344 rats. Cancer Res. 1985 Nov;45(11 Pt 1):5235–9.
- 141. Fujita J, Tokuda H, Ito Y, Yoshida O. Therapeutic effect of a retinoid (Ro 10-9359) on rats with bladder tumours induced by N-butyl-N-(4-hydroxybutyl)-nitrosamine upon administration alone or in combination with mitomycin C. Urol. Res. 1983;11(5):227– 30.
- 142. Longnecker DS, Kuhlmann ET, Curphey TJ. Divergent effects of retinoids on pancreatic and liver carcinogenesis in azaserine-treated rats. Cancer Res. 1983 Jul;43(7):3219–25.
- 143. Fritz H, Kennedy D, Fergusson D, Fernandes R, Doucette S, Cooley K, et al. Vitamin A and retinoid derivatives for lung cancer: a systematic review and meta analysis. PLoS ONE. 2011;6(6):e21107.
- 144. Stähelin HB, Gey KF, Eichholzer M, Lüdin E. Beta-carotene and cancer prevention: the Basel Study. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 1991 Jan;53(1 Suppl):265S–269S.
- 145. Wakai K, Matsuo K, Nagata C, Mizoue T, Tanaka K, Tsuji I, et al. Lung cancer risk and consumption of vegetables and fruit: an evaluation based on a systematic review of epidemiological evidence from Japan. Jpn. J. Clin. Oncol. 2011 May;41(5):693–708.



- 146. Larsson SC, Bergkvist L, Näslund I, Rutegård J, Wolk A. Vitamin A, retinol, and carotenoids and the risk of gastric cancer: a prospective cohort study. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 2007 Feb;85(2):497–503.
- 147. Zhang X, Spiegelman D, Baglietto L, Bernstein L, Boggs DA, van den Brandt PA, et al. Carotenoid intakes and risk of breast cancer defined by estrogen receptor and progesterone receptor status: a pooled analysis of 18 prospective cohort studies. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 2012 Mar;95(3):713–25.
- 148. Park S-Y, Nomura AMY, Murphy SP, Wilkens LR, Henderson BE, Kolonel LN. Carotenoid intake and colorectal cancer risk: the multiethnic cohort study. J Epidemiol. 2009;19(2):63–71.
- 149. Jiang L, Yang K, Tian J, Guan Q, Yao N, Cao N, et al. Efficacy of antioxidant vitamins and selenium supplement in prostate cancer prevention: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Nutr Cancer. 2010;62(6):719–27.
- Liu L, Gudas LJ. Disruption of the lecithin:retinol acyltransferase gene makes mice more susceptible to vitamin A deficiency. J. Biol. Chem. 2005 Dec 2;280(48):40226– 34.
- 151. O'Byrne SM, Wongsiriroj N, Libien J, Vogel S, Goldberg IJ, Baehr W, et al. Retinoid absorption and storage is impaired in mice lacking lecithin:retinol acyltransferase (LRAT). J. Biol. Chem. 2005 Oct 21;280(42):35647–57.
- 152. Guo X, Knudsen BS, Peehl DM, Ruiz A, Bok D, Rando RR, et al. Retinol metabolism and lecithin:retinol acyltransferase levels are reduced in cultured human prostate cancer cells and tissue specimens. Cancer Res. 2002 Mar 15;62(6):1654–61.
- 153. Guo X, Nanus DM, Ruiz A, Rando RR, Bok D, Gudas LJ. Reduced levels of retinyl esters and vitamin A in human renal cancers. Cancer Res. 2001 Mar 15;61(6):2774– 81.
- 154. Guo X, Ruiz A, Rando RR, Bok D, Gudas LJ. Esterification of all-trans-retinol in normal human epithelial cell strains and carcinoma lines from oral cavity, skin and breast: reduced expression of lecithin:retinol acyltransferase in carcinoma lines. Carcinogenesis. 2000 Nov;21(11):1925–33.
- 155. Boorjian S, Tickoo SK, Mongan NP, Yu H, Bok D, Rando RR, et al. Reduced lecithin: retinol acyltransferase expression correlates with increased pathologic tumor stage in bladder cancer. Clin. Cancer Res. 2004 May 15;10(10):3429–37.
- 156. Sheren-Manoff M, Shin SJ, Su D, Bok D, Rando RR, Gudas LJ. Reduced lecithin:retinol acyltransferase expression in human breast cancer. Int. J. Oncol. 2006 Nov;29(5):1193–9.



- 157. Kim H, Lapointe J, Kaygusuz G, Ong DE, Li C, van de Rijn M, et al. The retinoic acid synthesis gene ALDH1a2 is a candidate tumor suppressor in prostate cancer. Cancer Res. 2005 Sep 15;65(18):8118–24.
- 158. Mira-Y-Lopez R, Zheng WL, Kuppumbatti YS, Rexer B, Jing Y, Ong DE. Retinol conversion to retinoic acid is impaired in breast cancer cell lines relative to normal cells. J. Cell. Physiol. 2000 Nov;185(2):302–9.
- 159. Touma SE, Perner S, Rubin MA, Nanus DM, Gudas LJ. Retinoid metabolism and ALDH1A2 (RALDH2) expression are altered in the transgenic adenocarcinoma mouse prostate model. Biochem. Pharmacol. 2009 Nov 1;78(9):1127–38.
- 160. Osanai M, Sawada N, Lee G-H. Oncogenic and cell survival properties of the retinoic acid metabolizing enzyme, CYP26A1. Oncogene. 2010 Feb 25;29(8):1135–44.
- 161. Hu L, Crowe DL, Rheinwald JG, Chambon P, Gudas LJ. Abnormal expression of retinoic acid receptors and keratin 19 by human oral and epidermal squamous cell carcinoma cell lines. Cancer Res. 1991 Aug 1;51(15):3972–81.
- 162. Xu XC, Ro JY, Lee JS, Shin DM, Hong WK, Lotan R. Differential expression of nuclear retinoid receptors in normal, premalignant, and malignant head and neck tissues. Cancer Res. 1994 Jul 1;54(13):3580–7.
- 163. van der Burg B, van der Leede BM, Kwakkenbos-Isbrücker L, Salverda S, de Laat SW, van der Saag PT. Retinoic acid resistance of estradiol-independent breast cancer cells coincides with diminished retinoic acid receptor function. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 1993 Feb;91(1-2):149–57.
- 164. Suh Y-A, Lee H-Y, Virmani A, Wong J, Mann KK, Miller WH Jr, et al. Loss of retinoic acid receptor beta gene expression is linked to aberrant histone H3 acetylation in lung cancer cell lines. Cancer Res. 2002 Jul 15;62(14):3945–9.
- 165. Nakayama T, Watanabe M, Yamanaka M, Hirokawa Y, Suzuki H, Ito H, et al. The role of epigenetic modifications in retinoic acid receptor beta2 gene expression in human prostate cancers. Lab. Invest. 2001 Jul;81(7):1049–57.
- 166. Jerónimo C, Henrique R, Hoque MO, Ribeiro FR, Oliveira J, Fonseca D, et al. Quantitative RARbeta2 hypermethylation: a promising prostate cancer marker. Clin. Cancer Res. 2004 Jun 15;10(12 Pt 1):4010–4.
- 167. Hoque MO, Begum S, Topaloglu O, Jeronimo C, Mambo E, Westra WH, et al. Quantitative detection of promoter hypermethylation of multiple genes in the tumor, urine, and serum DNA of patients with renal cancer. Cancer Res. 2004 Aug 1;64(15):5511–7.



- 168. Cras A, Darsin-Bettinger D, Balitrand N, Cassinat B, Soulié A, Toubert M-E, et al. Epigenetic patterns of the retinoic acid receptor beta2 promoter in retinoic acidresistant thyroid cancer cells. Oncogene. 2007 Jun 7;26(27):4018–24.
- 169. Fazi F, Zardo G, Gelmetti V, Travaglini L, Ciolfi A, Di Croce L, et al. Heterochromatic gene repression of the retinoic acid pathway in acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2007 May 15;109(10):4432–40.
- 170. Berry DC, Jin H, Majumdar A, Noy N. Signaling by vitamin A and retinol-binding protein regulates gene expression to inhibit insulin responses. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 2011 Mar 15;108(11):4340–5.
- 171. Bouillet P, Oulad-Abdelghani M, Vicaire S, Garnier JM, Schuhbaur B, Dollé P, et al. Efficient cloning of cDNAs of retinoic acid-responsive genes in P19 embryonal carcinoma cells and characterization of a novel mouse gene, Stra1 (mouse LERK-2/Eplg2). Dev. Biol. 1995 Aug;170(2):420–33.
- 172. Adachi H, Preston G, Harvat B, Dawson MI, Jetten AM. Inhibition of cell proliferation and induction of apoptosis by the retinoid AHPN in human lung carcinoma cells. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 1998 Mar;18(3):323–33.
- 173. Langenfeld J, Kiyokawa H, Sekula D, Boyle J, Dmitrovsky E. Posttranslational regulation of cyclin D1 by retinoic acid: a chemoprevention mechanism. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1997 Oct 28;94(22):12070–4.
- 174. Ma Y, Feng Q, Sekula D, Diehl JA, Freemantle SJ, Dmitrovsky E. Retinoid targeting of different D-type cyclins through distinct chemopreventive mechanisms. Cancer Res. 2005 Jul 15;65(14):6476–83.
- 175. Spinella MJ, Freemantle SJ, Sekula D, Chang JH, Christie AJ, Dmitrovsky E. Retinoic acid promotes ubiquitination and proteolysis of cyclin D1 during induced tumor cell differentiation. J. Biol. Chem. 1999 Jul 30;274(31):22013–8.
- 176. Zhou Q, Stetler-Stevenson M, Steeg PS. Inhibition of cyclin D expression in human breast carcinoma cells by retinoids in vitro. Oncogene. 1997 Jul 3;15(1):107–15.
- 177. Naka K, Yokozaki H, Domen T, Hayashi K, Kuniyasu H, Yasui W, et al. Growth inhibition of cultured human gastric cancer cells by 9-cis-retinoic acid with induction of cdk inhibitor Waf1/Cip1/Sdi1/p21 protein. Differentiation. 1997 Aug;61(5):313–20.
- 178. Liu M, Iavarone A, Freedman LP. Transcriptional activation of the human p21(WAF1/CIP1) gene by retinoic acid receptor. Correlation with retinoid induction of U937 cell differentiation. J. Biol. Chem. 1996 Dec 6;271(49):31723–8.
- 179. Quesnelle KM, Boehm AL, Grandis JR. STAT-mediated EGFR signaling in cancer. J. Cell. Biochem. 2007 Oct 1;102(2):311–9.



180. Leeman RJ, Lui VWY, Grandis JR. STAT3 as a therapeutic target in head and neck cancer. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2006 Mar;6(3):231–41.

